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MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2022; 9:00 A.M. - 1:09 P.M.

*  *  *

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Let's go on the record.  

This is in the matter of charges and complaint against 

Matthew Obin Okeke, M.D., Respondent.  This is State 

Medical Board of Examiners Case Number 21-22461-1. 

Ms. Bradley is here as counsel for the 

Investigative Committee of the Board. 

Mr. Agwara, are you there with your client?  

MR. SWANK:  Would you like me to bring them 

in?  

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Yes, please. 

Good morning, Mr. Agwara and Dr. Okeke. 

Can you both hear me all right?  

MR. AGWARA:  Yes, we can.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Good morning.  I'm 

Charles Woodman.  I'm the hearing officer assigned to 

this case.  The Court Reporter is actually there with 

you at the Board of the Southern Nevada office.  Present 

with me in the Northern Nevada office is Ms. Bradley, 

counsel for the investigative committee of the Board. 

We are on the record, and before we get into 

the IC's case, Mr. Agwara, is that the best way to 
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pronounce your name?  

MR. AGWARA:  Yes.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Are there any 

housekeeping or other issues that you want to address 

before we get started?  

MR. AGWARA:  I was just wondering if you could 

explain the process for Dr. Okeke.  I believe this is 

his first formal hearing.  In other words, what will 

happen after today, and just procedural.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  I understand.  Very 

good.  So Dr. Okeke, what will happen is Ms. Bradley, 

who is counsel for the Board's Investigative Committee 

will present her case.  She will call witnesses.  Your 

counsel, Dr. Okeke, Mr. Agwara, will have the 

opportunity to cross-examine those witnesses. 

When Ms. Bradley rests her case, your 

attorney, Mr. Agwara, will have the opportunity to 

present any evidence that he wants to present.  The 

Board, the IC, has the burden of proof here.  So it is 

not required that any defense case on your behalf, 

Dr. Okeke, be presented, but that's up to you and your 

counsel.  And after you present any witnesses, of 

course, Ms. Bradley will have her opportunity to 

cross-examination just like your attorney can 

cross-examine her witnesses. 
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At the end of the presentation of evidence, 

then the attorneys will have the opportunity, if they 

choose, to argue what their evidence -- what they think 

it should mean to me as the hearing officer. 

After everyone concludes, I will take the case 

under submission.  We will all get transcripts of the 

entire proceeding, and then I will make a decision in 

terms of what I believe the evidence tells me, and I 

send that decision to the state Board. 

Of course, Dr. Okeke, you and your attorney 

will receive that, and it's essentially a recommendation 

on my part on what the State Board should decide.  

Obviously, the IC through their counsel will receive it 

as well, and then that matter will be brought up at one 

of the upcoming hearings of the State Medical Board, and 

at that point, there are opportunities to object to my 

recommendations, to appeal the Board's decision, et 

cetera. 

Is that helpful?  

DR. OKEKE:  Yes.

MR. AGWARA:  Yes.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Very good.  With that, 

we will go ahead and proceed. 

Ms. Bradley, you have the floor.  You may call 

your first witness.
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MS. BRADLEY:  Mr. Hearing officer, may I make a 

brief opening statement?  

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  You can make an opening 

statement.  Mr. Agwara, since counsel for the IC wants 

to make an opening statement, you'll have the same 

opportunity to do so.  You can decide to make that 

opening statement either right after Ms. Bradley makes 

hers, before she calls her first witness, or you can 

choose to make an opening statement at the beginning of 

your evidence if you choose to present any evidence. 

All right?  

MR. AGWARA:  Thank you.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Ms. Bradley, please.  

MS. BRADLEY:  So the case we're at here today for 

is -- the Complaint alleges two counts.  The first count 

is malpractice.  The concerns that the Investigative 

Committee has regarding the treatment of the patient in 

this case is that Respondent failed to justify the use, 

increase and decrease, and then subsequent increases of 

doses of Patient A's medication.  That the Respondent 

prescribed a combination of controlled substances 

without documenting the medical justification or 

rationale.  Respondent failed to review the PMP report 

prior to, during, and after the encounter with Patient 

A.  Failed to assess Patient A's concurrent medical 
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interaction.  Failed to assess Patient A for possible 

drug abuse or diversion or any other non-medical-related 

activity, particularly knowing that the patient had a 

history of substance abuse in the past.  Failing to 

assess Patient A for --

THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry, Counsel.  Can you read 

slower, and are you saying "Patient A"?

MS. BRADLEY:  Yes.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Ms. Reporter, for 

confidentiality purposes, the patient or patients in 

question are referred to as Patient A, as in the letter 

A.  If there were any other patients, they would be B, 

C, et cetera, and that's how we refer to the subject 

patient in the case.

THE REPORTER:  Thank you.

MS. BRADLEY:  And lastly, failing to diligently 

monitor potential medical interactions in Patient A's 

changing treatment plan. 

The other counts that the Investigative 

Committee has alleged has to do with records.  

Specifically, that Respondent failed to maintain medical 

records that were timely, legible, accurate, and 

complete.  We will hear from Dr. Chen regarding multiple 

counts, and I do think the medical records here, in her 

opinion, we're going to hear are more than just slightly 
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lacking.  They're seriously lacking.  Throughout her 

review of this case, she had concerns regarding 

documentation regarding Patient A's care, and so that is 

the other allegation that we believe will be proven in 

this case.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Very good.  Thank you, 

Ms. Bradley. 

Mr. Agwara, do you want to make an opening 

statement now, or wait until the presentation of any 

evidence you want to bring today?  

MR. AGWARA:  Mr. Woodman, I'd rather do it now, 

but before I do, can -- I don't know the people in the 

room with us here.  I just know the Court Reporter.  Can 

we know the names and the role of all the people in here 

with us?  

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  That does not seem to be 

an unreasonable request.  So I've got a limited view.  I 

can only see counsel table there with Mr. Agwara and 

Dr. Okeke, as well as two people sitting behind them.  I 

believe there are some other representatives of the 

Board of the IC there helping us out.  Am I wrong?  

MS. BRADLEY:  We do have an investigator in the 

room.  Investigator Ryan Swank is there. 

The two witnesses sitting in the back of the 

room, they are not witnesses, and they are not Board 
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employees.  The hearings are opening to the public, and 

I believe they're just representatives of one of the 

participating agencies.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Are you folks there 

sitting in the back behind Mr. Agwara and Dr. Okeke, are 

you folks who are just members of the public who want to 

hear this hearing?

MS. POLITSOPOULOS:   We're here from DEA.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  And ma'am, what is your 

name, and spell it, please.

MS. POLITSOPOULOS:   Investigator Politsopoulos.  

P-O-L-I-T-S-O-P-O-U-L-O-S.  

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  So the common spelling.  

Thank you, Ms. Investigator.  And to your left, at least 

according to the way I see it on the screen, the other 

gentleman who is there. 

MR. LOVELL:  Rob Lovell, L-o-v-e-l-l, and I'm a 

contractor with DEA.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Okay.  Thank you very 

much.  Very good.  Who is the other person, the other 

investigator there?  

MS. BRADLEY:  I believe Investigator Swank is in 

the room.

INVESTIGATOR SWANK:  That's me.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Anybody else there?  
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INVESTIGATOR SWANK:  No, sir.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  All right. 

Mr. Agwara, if you want to make your opening 

statement, please.

MR. AGWARA:  Thank you, Mr. Woodman. 

Dr. Okeke is not here today to fight with the 

Board or the IC.  To the extent that evidence shows 

mistakes, he will acknowledge those mistakes.  To the 

extent that there's a difference between the State's 

expert and Dr. Okeke regarding judgments made as a 

physician, we intend to point those out.  And for 

whatever mistakes that may be evidenced at this hearing, 

he has taken steps to correct those, and will be -- he 

has made a lot of changes in his practice. 

And as the hearing proceeds, I believe the 

Hearing Officer will be hearing from Dr. Okeke regarding 

those changes.  He's also taken over 30 hours of 

continuing medical education courses in areas regarding 

detecting substance abuse, and in other areas, and I 

will give, toward the end of the hearing, I will give a 

list of those courses that he has taken as a way to make 

sure that any mistakes that were made will not be 

repeated in the future. 

I just wanted to put that on the record that 

this is not as adversarial as it may look.  We're here 
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with the hope that going forward, mistakes that were 

made will be corrected or have been corrected and so 

these mistakes won't happen again.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Thank you, Mr. Agwara. 

One other item that we just discussed between 

me and the Court Reporter, who is there with you, before 

you came into the room, is that our Court Reporter has a 

hard break today at 1:00 o'clock.  She is done at 1:00. 

Ms. Bradley let me know that there's a backup 

reporter, if we need a backup reporter.  So depending 

where counsel is in the presentation of the evidence, 

it's possible that we may go through the lunch hour, if 

that works for everyone, to try to wrap up by 1:00 

o'clock.  If that doesn't look realistic, we'll take a 

break at the lunch hour and come back with the backup 

Court Reporter, and put the rest of the case on. 

It doesn't matter to me.  I just want to make 

sure everybody has ample time to present their evidence, 

and again, we'll check on that going into the lunch hour 

to see where we are. 

So with that, Ms. Bradley, you may call your 

first witness.

MS. BRADLEY:  I will call Ernesto Diaz.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Mr. Diaz is here in the 

Northern Nevada office. 
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Ms. Reporter, I know that you can't see him, 

or you might be able to see him, I'm not sure, but will 

you please swear in Mr. Diaz.  

ERNESTO DIAZ,

having been duly administered the oath

was examined and testified as follows:

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Very good.  All right.  

Ms. Bradley.

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MS. BRADLEY:  

Q. Mr. Diaz, will you please state your name and 

spell your last name for the record?

A. My name is Ernesto Diaz.  My last name is 

D-i-a-z.  

Q. And who is your employer?

A. I'm employed by the Nevada State Board of 

Medical Examiners.

Q. What is your job title? 

A. My position is Chief of Investigations.

Q. How long have you had that position?

A. Approximately two and a half years.  

Q. Do you have any other investigation 

experience?
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A. I do.

Q. Could you tell us about that?

A. I was a special agent with the Department of 

Justice, Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Farms, and 

Explosives.  I was a Border Control Agent under 

then-Immigration and Naturalization Service for 

approximately 25 years.  

Q. As the Chief of Investigations for the Nevada 

State Board of Medical Examiners, what are your duties? 

A. As the Chief of Investigations, I review all 

complaints that come to the Board.  I review them for 

jurisdiction.  If they're within our jurisdiction and 

the individual is a licensee of the Board, I will open 

up the investigation and assign it to investigators.  I 

also do reporting for disciplinary actions.  

Q. Do you supervise the investigators?

A. I do. 

Q. And the investigation is done that they are 

conducting? 

A. Yes.

Q. And when a complaint comes in, what happens?

A. I review the complaint.  If we have 

jurisdiction, we open up a new investigation, assign it 

to an investigator, and then go through our 

investigative process.

SHARON CAHN, CSR, INC.  714-813-0320
CERTIFIED ELECTRONIC TRANSCRIPT

14

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



Q. Part of that process would be creating a file 

for that case?

A. That's correct; a case file.  

Q. Are you familiar with the case file in this 

case?  And just for the record, it's 19-19202?

A. I am.  

Q. Who was the original investigator on this 

case?

A. Kim Friedman.

Q. Is Ms. Friedman still employed with the Board? 

A. No, she's not.  

Q. Did you take over this case then?

A. I did.

Q. As the Chief of Investigations, are you 

familiar with the procedure that the Board uses when 

investigating cases?

A. Yes, I am.  

Q. Have you reviewed the file for this case?

A. I have.  

Q. Based on your review, does this case appear to 

be similar to other investigations conducted by the 

Board?

A. Yes, it does.  

Q. For the record, let's go ahead and look at the 

exhibits in this case.  I believe there are copies of 
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exhibits there on the table in a binder, and I think 

there's also a copy for the Court Reporter, most likely. 

Just for the record, we have pre-marked 

exhibits 1 through 15.  I'm hoping that we can agree to 

the admission of 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5.  Because those are 

all documents that have been sent to Dr. Okeke, and his 

attorney, and then his responses. 

So I'm asking if Mr. Agwara will stipulate to 

the addition of 1 through 5.  1 is the formal complaint.  

2 is Dr. Okeke's answer to the formal complaint.  3 -- 

MR. AGWARA:  There's no need to read.  We can 

stipulate.  That's fine.  As a matter of fact, we can 

include 6 also.

MS. BRADLEY:  Okay.  We'll stipulate to the 

admission to the Exhibits 1 through 6 then.

MR. AGWARA:  Yes.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  IC's Exhibits 1 

through 6 are admitted.

MS. BRADLEY:  Thank you.

MR. AGWARA:  Going forward, just to make this time 

efficient, if there are factual things that counsel 

would like to ask if I agree or not, the chances are 

that we are going to agree more today than we are going 

to disagree.  So if you want to do like what you just 

did now, that will save us time.
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MS. BRADLEY:  Okay.  If I could, just for the 

record, I want to put into the record what 1 through 6 

are. 

So 1 is the filed formal complaint.  It was 

filed October 26, 2021, by the Investigative Committee. 

Exhibit 2 is the Respondent's answer to the 

formal complaint, and that was filed on January 11, 

2022. 

Exhibit 3 is the Board's allegation letter 

that was sent to Respondent dated December 19, 2019. 

Exhibit 4 is the Board's allegation letter to 

Respondent and second request; that was dated 

January 13, 2020. 

And then No. 5 is the Respondent's response to 

the Board's allegation letter.  Now, it's dated 

January 14, 2019.  I believe that's a typo, though.  I 

believe it's actually 2020.  We all know that sometimes 

when we get into January, we don't always switch over as 

quickly as we should to the new year, so I think it's a 

typo, and it should be 2020. 

We've also agreed to Exhibit 6, which is an 

order to produce health care records, and that was dated 

December 19, 2019. 

Q. Okay.  So let's turn to Exhibit 7 in the 

Board's exhibits, Mr. Diaz. 
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Do you recognize Exhibit 7?  

A. I do.

Q. Okay.  What is it?

A. It's a Subpoena Duces Tecum to the Las Vegas 

Metropolitan Police Department.  

Q. Is this a true copy of the Subpoena Duces 

Tecum that's in the Board's file for this case?

A. Yes, it is.

Q. What's the date on that?

A. December 31st, 2019. 

MS. BRADLEY:  I would ask that Exhibit 7 be 

admitted.  

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Any objection, 

Mr. Agwara.

MR. AGWARA:  I would like to know the relevance.

MS. BRADLEY:  Mr. Diaz just testified that this 

was something that was prepared, and it's in the Board's 

file for this case.  I think that's the relevance.  In a 

sense, it's part of this investigation.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  So Mr. Agwara, any reply 

to the fact that it's relevant because it's a key -- I 

think it would appear to be a key discovery item for 

this case?  

MR. AGWARA:  Let me see.  I'll keep my objection, 

and of course, you can overrule it.  I just don't see 
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how it's related to the disciplinary complaints in the 

actual complaint.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  I'm going to admit it, 

essentially based on my history and experience with 

these hearings.  I have a feeling, I could be wrong, but 

I know where Ms. Bradley is going with this.  So I will 

admit I had provisionally, and holding onto the 

objection that if for whatever reason I find it's not 

relevant, I will clarify that for the record.

MR. AGWARA:  Thank you.  

BY MS. BRADLEY:  

Q. So let's turn to Exhibit 8 then, Mr. Diaz.  

Do you recognize this document?  

A. I do.

Q. What is it?

A. It's a report of a psychological assessment of 

Patient A.

Q. Who was this prepared by?

A. These would be records that we obtained from 

Dr. Matthew Okeke and Brian Baudiun.  

Q. If we go to the last page of the document, it 

appears that it was prepared by Dr. Okeke and Brian -- 

A. That's correct.

Q. Is this a true and correct copy of what the 

Board received?
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A. It is.

MS. BRADLEY:  I would ask for admission on 

Exhibit 8?

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Any objection, 

Mr. Agwara?  

MR. AGWARA:  No objection.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  8 is admitted.  

MS. BRADLEY:  Can we turn to Exhibit 9, 

Mr. Diaz. 

Q. Do you recognize this document?

A. I do.

Q. What is it?

A. It is a Clark County Coroner's Autopsy Report 

on Patient A.  

Q. What's the date on this report?

A. August 23rd, 2019.  

Q. How did the Board receive this document?

A. We sent an order, a Subpoena Duces Tecum to 

request a copy of the Autopsy Report of Patient A.  

Q. Is this a true and correct copy of what the 

Board received?

A. That's correct.

MS. BRADLEY:  Based on Mr. Diaz's testimony, I 

would ask that Exhibit 9 be admitted.  

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Mr. Agwara, any 
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objection to 9?  

MR. AGWARA:  Yes.  Same objection, relevance.  And 

also, to the extent that the chief investigator is 

testifying, is he testifying to the authenticity of this 

document, or is he testifying as a custodian of records?  

I don't understand.  Did he author this document?  Or is 

he the one that received it?  

MS. BRADLEY:  Mr. Diaz has testified as to the 

authenticity of the records that are in the Board's file 

for this investigation. 

He's testifying that this is a true and 

correct copy of what the Board received in response to a 

request as part of the investigation.  As far as 

relevance goes, it was alleged in the complaint that 

Patient A did pass away.  Page 4 of the complaint, 

Factual Allegation 14.  So this exhibit just goes to 

support the fact that she did pass away, and the Clark 

County Coroner made some determinations regarding that, 

as alleged in the complaint. 

We're not saying that Mr. Diaz authored this, 

but that the Board received it as part of this 

investigation.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Mr. Diaz, is that 

accurate, as part of the IC's investigation, this 

Coroner's Report was received by the IC's Court Ordered 
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Investigation Group?  

THE WITNESS:  That's correct.  It was received 

December 30th, 2019.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  So here's what I'm going 

to do, because of the allegation in the complaint, I'm 

going to admit 9 provisionally, also, along with 7, 

which has been admitted provisionally.  Based on the 

evidence that I hear going forward, I'll either 

determine that 9 is definitely part of the record, or 

we'll re-address it depending on what I hear.

MR. AGWARA:  Just to be clear.  Mr. Diaz is also 

testifying as a custodian of records?  

MS. BRADLEY:  He's testifying as a staff member of 

the Board.  The investigator who originally handled this 

case is no longer employed by the Board.  Mr. Diaz 

testified that he supervises the investigators and that 

he took over this matter.  However, I would say it was 

completed in its investigation stage.  He's taken over 

it for the purposes of reviewing the file, testifying 

here today, and authenticating what is in the Board's 

file in the case.

MR. AGWARA:  Ms. Bradley, I'm not arguing with 

you.  I just want it for the record.  If he's not 

testifying as a custodian of records, can we put that on 

the record that he's not?  
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MS. BRADLEY:  Okay.  I think the only person 

that's a custodian of records for the Board is the 

Executive Director, who is upstairs.  So yeah, we can 

put that on the record that he is not a custodian of 

records.

MR. AGWARA:  Thank you.

MS. BRADLEY:  But I think he can testify to what's 

in the Board's file for an investigation that he took 

over after an employee left.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  I believe Mr. Woodman 

has ruled on the admission anyway.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  That's correct.  I 

appreciate your point, and I'm not sure, again, the 

evidence that I hear going forward will help me make a 

determination as to whether Mr. Diaz's testimony comes 

in, in part, as a custodian of records.  To a certain 

extent, there is that element; whether that's going to 

make a difference or not, I have to see what I hear.

MS. BRADLEY:  Mr. Diaz, will you turn to 

Exhibit 10. 

Q. And do you recognize this document?

A. I do.

Q. And what is this?

A. This is a Prescription Monitoring Program 

query of Patient A and the types of narcotics that 
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Patient A was prescribed.

Q. For the record, are you familiar with the PMP?

A. I am.

Q. That's the acronym that we use for 

Prescription Monitoring Program?

A. That's correct.

Q. What is the PMP?

A. PMP is a Nevada State Board Pharmacy database 

that is utilized for health care providers that can 

prescribe narcotics.  Basically, it was enacted to 

monitor and ensure the prescribing is done within the 

law and safely.  It's also used by licensees to 

self-query themselves to make sure their prescription 

pad is installing, for example, and it's also used for 

querying patients to see what kind of medications they 

are receiving and if they are receiving from other 

providers as well.  

Q. Do Board investigators have access to the PMP?

A. Yes.

Q. Why would a Board investigator review a PMP 

Report in an investigation?

A. To determine the types and frequency of 

narcotics that a patient has been prescribed.  A lot of 

times, that can help in diversion investigations with 

prescriptions as well.  
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Q. How does the Board receive what's been 

pre-marked as the Board Exhibit 10?

A. Investigator Friedman utilized her access to 

the PMP program, and queried Patient A's prescriptions 

for that period of time.  

Q. Is this a true and correct copy of the report 

that was generated by Investigator Friedman?

A. Yes, it is.

Q. And that is what's in the Board's 

investigation file?

A. Yes, it is.

MS. BRADLEY:  Based on Mr. Diaz's testimony, I ask 

that Exhibit 10 be admitted.  

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Mr. Agwara, any 

objection to Exhibit 10?  

MR. AGWARA:  Yes.  I want to object to 10 on the 

same grounds, and this time more strenuously.  If he is 

not testifying at the custodian of records, he cannot 

authenticate this document, and he seems to be doing it.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Ms. Bradley.

MS. BRADLEY:  I guess I would say, early on, 

Mr. Diaz testified that he supervises the investigators.  

Investigator Friedman left the Board's employment, and 

he's taken over her file.  He can testify that he 

reviewed her file.  He's familiar with the contents in 
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the investigative file.  He's familiar with the 

processes used and the things that investigators would 

do to investigate cases, and so, I will agree.  He did 

not do this investigation, but he's the boss of the 

person who did, and he has taken over that file, and 

he's going through the documents contained in that file, 

you know, for the purposes of this hearing.  I don't 

have any other response to that.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Isn't it true that under 

these circumstances where he did not do the 

investigation, but oversees the person who did, to the 

extent he's testifying as to, at least some of these 

exhibits, as a custodian of records because he knows the 

process by which they are acquired and kept and 

preserved, correct?

MR. AGWARA:  Mr. Woodman, I object to the 

statement that you just made.  Please let Ms. Bradley 

defend her case.  She put it on the record a few minutes 

ago that Mr. Diaz is not testifying as a custodian of 

records.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Your objection is noted, 

but I already stated that because of what I just 

articulated a little more in depth, to a certain extent, 

I see Mr. Diaz, in part here today, as effectively a 

custodian of records.  And because of that, as I 
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understand the process whereby, again, he supervises 

investigators.  He knows the drill.  He knows how these 

things are put together. 

And I will ask this question:  Mr. Diaz, from 

everything that you have seen in this case, have you 

noted any irregularity in the preservation of the 

investigation file that previously belonged to your 

reporting investigator, and from the time that she was 

handling the investigation -- I think it was a she, 

correct?  

THE WITNESS:  Correct.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  -- until today, as the 

investigation has come back in your full direction, is 

there anything irregular or anything at all we should 

discuss about the receipt and/or preservation of these 

records?

THE WITNESS:  No.

MR. AGWARA:  Objection, again.

THE WITNESS:  Our investigations have a process.  

Investigator Friedman conducted that process exactly as 

we do in all our investigations.  She documented 

everything that she did, from sending out requests for 

records, to receiving documents.  Everything was very 

detailed.  I double-checked in our investigative 

database.  I double-checked in the case file.  And this 
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investigation is common and regularly done as all the 

other ones were.  There are no irregularities.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  All right.  Based on 

that then, Mr. Agwara, your objections are noted.  Same 

thing.  I'm going to provisionally admit 10 based on 

what I know about the allegations in the complaint, and 

I haven't looked at Exhibit 10 substantively at all.  So 

depending on the evidence that I hear going forward, 

I'll make a decision, yes, it's absolutely admitted, or 

I'll pull back that provisional admission that I'm 

making at this time.

MR. AGWARA:  I was going to point that out.  You 

can overrule my objection.  That's fine.  What I'm also 

objecting to is asking the witness questions that tend 

to point to whether or not you want to authenticate him 

as a custodian of records.  And the reason I object to 

that is because his own lawyer, Ms. Bradley, has stated 

on the record that he's not testifying as a custodian of 

records.  I just want to make that clear.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  That is clear.  It's 

just that she's calling him, I believe, as a substantive 

witness.  We'll see that going forward.  I'm just 

stating my own personal opinion, which I think has legal 

validity to it, which is to a certain extent because he 

was not the investigator who did this, but he does 
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oversee that investigator.  I find him in a situation to 

an extent, he is the custodian of records. 

So I can disagree with Ms. Bradley on that 

point, and I don't think it makes a significant 

difference.  In any event, I made the ruling that I 

made.  Ms. Bradley, you can continue.  

 MS. BRADLEY:  Mr. Diaz, will you please turn to 

Exhibit 11. 

Q. Do you recognize these documents?

A. I do.

Q. And what are they?

A. These are medical records that we received at 

the request of an order Investigator Friedman sent out.  

Q. Where are they from? 

A. Grand Desert Psychiatric Services.  

Q. Do these documents appear to be true and 

correct copies of the records that were received by the 

Board and contained in the Board's investigative file?

A. Yes, they do.

Q. And were these received from Dr. Okeke?

A. Yes.

MS. BRADLEY:  Based on Mr. Diaz's testimony, I 

would ask Exhibit 11 be admitted.  

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Mr. Agwara, objections 

to 11?  
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MR. AGWARA:  No.  

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  All right.  11 is 

admitted.  

 MS. BRADLEY:  Mr. Diaz, please turn to 

Exhibit 12. 

Q. Do you recognize these documents?

A. I do.

Q. What are they?

A. These are Patient A's medical records from 

Montevista Hospital.

Q. How did the Board receive these records?

A. Investigator Friedman sent an order to receive 

health care records on December 31st, 2019.  The Board 

subsequently received them on January 9, 2020.  

Q. Do these documents appear to be true and 

correct copies of the records that were received in this 

investigation as requested by Investigator Friedman?

A. Yes.

MS. BRADLEY:  Based on Mr. Diaz's testimony, I ask 

that Exhibit 12 be admitted.  

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Mr. Agwara?  

MR. AGWARA:  I'll object on the grounds of 

relevance.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  So on 12, from what I'm 

hearing, I'm going to hold off until we get some 
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foundation, some substance, and I'll rule on 12.  

MS. BRADLEY:  Okay.  Exhibit 13. 

Q. Mr. Diaz, will you please turn to that.  

A. Okay.  

Q. Do you recognize Exhibit 13?

A. I do.

Q. What is Exhibit 13?

A. Exhibit 13 is a request for records that we 

sent to Sunrise Hospital, and it includes the records 

that they provided for Patient A.

Q. Do these documents appear to be a true and 

correct copy of the records that were received by 

Ms. Friedman as part of the investigation?

A. Yes, they are.  

MS. BRADLEY:  Based on Mr. Diaz's testimony, I ask 

that Exhibit 13 be admitted.  

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Mr. Agwara?  

MR. AGWARA:  Same objection; relevance.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  All right.  

MS. BRADLEY:  I would say that 12 and 13 are 

relevant in that they were documents received regarding 

Patient A as part of the investigation.  They show 

Patient A's history, as alleged in the Complaint.  She 

had a complicated mental health and other history, and 

she did subsequently pass away.  And I believe some of 
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these records are regarding that as well.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  I'm going to make the 

same statement with 13 as I did with 12.  Once I hear 

some substantive testimony -- the reality is, I 

anticipate that the IC is able to show that they're 

relevant, but I'm going to hold off on ruling until I 

hear some substance to make sure they are relevant.

MS. BRADLEY:  Mr. Diaz, will you turn to Exhibit 

14, please. 

Q. Do you recognize Exhibit 14?

A. I do.

Q. What is Exhibit 14?

A. Exhibit 14 are the Peer Review materials 

references that a peer review is in writing, their Peer 

Review report, when the Board requests a peer review be 

conducted.  

Q. How does the Board receive Exhibit 14?

A. Peer Review materials and reference materials 

are included with a peer-review report.  It is written 

by a peer reviewer.

Q. So these were sent by Dr. Chen?

A. Yes.

Q. Do these appear to be a true and correct copy 

of the items Dr. Chen sent to the Board after she 

reviewed them?
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A. Yes.

MS. BRADLEY:  If you would turn to Exhibit 15. 

Q. Do you recognize Exhibit 15?  

A. I do.  

Q. What is Exhibit 15?

A. Exhibit 15 is a Curriculum Vitae of Dr. Chen, 

and it is also provided as part of the Peer Review 

Report.  

Q. We also have a list of peer reviewers that the 

Board uses with their CV?

A. Yes.  When we first obtain someone that's 

going to do a Peer Review for the Medical Board, we ask 

they provide a CV that states their training, 

experience, and qualifications.

Q. Does this appear to be a true and correct copy 

of the Curriculum Vitae that the Board has on file for 

Dr. Chen?

A. Yes.

MS. BRADLEY:  Thank you.  I have no further 

questions for Mr. Diaz at this time.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Thank you, Ms. Bradley.  

Mr. Agwara, questions of Mr. Diaz?  

MR. AGWARA:  First of all, I didn't hear 

Ms. Bradley request that either Exhibit 14 or 15 be 

admitted.  So I'm assuming that she's not offering them 
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as evidence.

MS. BRADLEY:  I'm not offering them as evidence at 

this time.  I intend to have a subsequent witness 

authenticate them further so they could be admitted.

MR. AGWARA:  Okay.  Thank you.

CROSS-EXAMINATION

BY MR. AGWARA:  

Q. Mr. Diaz, can you explain what it is your job 

entails?

MS. BRADLEY:  I'm going to object.  I think that's 

been asked and answered.  He's already talked about his 

job duties with regard to his position on the Board.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  I'm going to overrule it 

and let him explore it a little bit. 

Go ahead, Mr. Agwara.

MR. AGWARA:  Thank you.

THE WITNESS:  Sure.  As Chief of Investigations, I 

oversee two deputy chiefs and seven investigators.  We 

had an office in Las Vegas with a deputy chief and three 

investigators.  My primary role of chief investigations 

is to oversee the Investigations Division of the Medical 

Board.  That also includes reviewing complaints that are 

filed with the Medical Board.  Determining if there's 

jurisdiction to open an investigation.  Open an 

investigation.  Assign those to investigators.  In 
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addition, I also assign cases to myself, and I work 

investigations as a chief.  

BY MR. AGWARA:  

Q. Thank you.  Would you say that your deputy 

investigators or deputy chief investigators, would you 

say that they are more familiar with individual cases 

that are being investigated than yourself?

A. If it's their investigation, they are the 

first-line investigator.  I, as a supervisor, am the 

second-level reviewer.  I review investigations; that's 

part of my duties as well, to make sure they're 

following the investigative process.  I also approve 

certain things in an investigation, such as payments for 

records, payments for peer reviewers, et cetera.  All 

those things I independently review in cases that 

require a second-level review.

Q. Was this case assigned to one of your 

deputies?

A. It was assigned to a senior investigator.  

(Speaking simultaneously.)

BY MR. AGWARA:  

Q. Was this case reviewed by one of your 

deputies?

A. No.  It was reviewed by myself.  

Q. Okay.  Were you the one that actually received 
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any one of these documents that you testified to?

A. No.  

Q. Did your office request that Ms. Friedman 

testify to that?

A. No.  

Q. Is there a reason why?

A. I'm capable of testifying as a supervisor of 

investigations.

Q. That's the only reason you didn't ask 

Ms. Friedman?

A. No.  

Q. What other reasons?

A. There was no reason to ask Ms. Friedman to 

testify in this case.  

Q. Even though she was the investigator that 

requested all these documents?

A. That's correct.  She's no longer with the 

Board.

Q. But she's still in Nevada? 

A. I believe so.  I haven't spoken to her since 

she left.

MR. AGWARA:  Okay.  No further questions.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Redirect?  

MS. BRADLEY:  No, thank you.  I have none.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  May Mr. Diaz be excused, 
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subject to recall?  

MS. BRADLEY:  I do not need Mr. Diaz anymore for 

my case in chief.  I may need him for rebuttal, if I 

were to need a rebuttal case. 

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Okay.  Mr. Diaz, I 

imagine you will make yourself available for rebuttal. 

THE WITNESS:  Yes.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Thank you, sir.  

THE WITNESS:  Thank you.  

MR. AGWARA:  Mr. Woodman, I drank a lot of water 

before we started.  Can I get a quick bathroom break?  

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Yes.  We'll go off the 

record for a few minutes and take a break.  

(Recess taken: 9:48 a.m. to 9:53 a.m.)

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Back on the record in 

the matter of the complaint against Matthew Okeke, M.D., 

Respondent. 

We concluded with Mr. Diaz, the first witness 

for the IC. 

Ms. Bradley, call your next witness.

MS. BRADLEY:  I would call Dr. Jayleen Chen.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Can we adjust the 

camera, so Dr. Chen, who is here in the Northern Board, 

can see our Reporter in the Southern Board.

(Technical difficulties.)
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JAYLEEN CHEN, M.D.,

having been duly administered the oath

was examined and testified as follows:

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Thank you, 

Ms. Reporter.  Ms. Bradley, you can go ahead.

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MS. BRADLEY:  

Q. Dr. Chen, will you please state your name and 

spell your last name for the record?

A. Jayleen Chen, C-h-e-n.

Q. Are you licensed as a medical doctor in the 

State of Nevada?

A. Yes, I am.  

Q. Okay.  How long have you been licensed?

A. I had a limited license in -- 

THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry, I can't hear her.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  That's why I 

interrupted.  I was going to check with you, 

Ms. Reporter, to see if you can hear her.

(Technical difficulties, and a discussion 

was held off the record.)

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Ms. Bradley has moved 

the microphone and put it right in front of Dr. Chen.  

SHARON CAHN, CSR, INC.  714-813-0320
CERTIFIED ELECTRONIC TRANSCRIPT

38

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



Dr. Chen, do your best to be loud and proud so that our 

reporter can get you.  And Ms. Reporter, I can see you 

now, so if you have a hard time hearing, just raise a 

hand, give me a sign, and we'll interrupt.  

BY MS. BRADLEY:  

Q. Dr. Chen, please state your name and spell 

your last name for the record?

A. Jayleen Chen, C-h-e-n.  

Q. Are you licensed as a medical doctor in the 

State of Nevada?

A. Yes, I am.  

Q. And how long have you been licensed?  

A. I've been fully licensed since 2015.

Q. I think you said earlier that you had a 

limited license in Nevada?

A. Yes, when I was in my residency and 

fellowship, and that was 2010 to 2015.

Q. Are you certified by the American Board of 

Medical Specialties?

A. Yes, I am.  

Q. What is your specialty?

A. I am Board-Certified in general psychiatry and 

child and adolescent psychiatry.

Q. What type of medicine do you practice in?

A. I practice psychiatry.
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Q. And based on, I think, your Board specialty is 

with both adults and adolescents and children?

A. I prefer children and adolescents, but I do 

see adults as well.  

Q. Let's look at first Exhibit 15, which we had 

Mr. Diaz testify that the Board received.  I'm hoping 

that you have seen Exhibit 15 before.  

A. Yes, I have.  

Q. What is Exhibit 15?

A. That is my Curriculum Vitae.  

Q. Is that something that you provided to the 

Board?

A. Yes, it is.

Q. Does it appear to be a true and correct copy 

of your Curriculum Vitae that you provided?

A. It is.  

MS. BRADLEY:  Based on Dr. Chen's testimony, I 

would ask that Exhibit 15 be admitted.  

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Mr. Agwara, any 

objection to Dr. Chen's CV?  

MR. AGWARA:  No.  

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Very good.  Then, 15 is 

admitted.  

BY MS. BRADLEY:  

Q. Have you served as a peer reviewer for the 
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Board before? 

A. I have.

Q. How many cases do you think you have reviewed 

for the Board?

A. I believe five different cases.

Q. How long have you been on the Board's peer 

review list?

A. I believe I started back in 2017.  

Q. Are you familiar with Investigation 19-19202 

regarding Dr. Matthew Okeke?  

A. Yes, I am.  

Q. Have you seen the Board's Exhibits 3 through 

5, and I believe those are already admitted?

A. Yes, I have. 

Q. You've seen those before?

A. Yes.

Q. And what about Exhibits 8 through 13?  

Those -- 

A. Yes, I've seen them all.  

Q. Did you review Exhibits 8 through 13 when you 

did your review of this case?

A. Yes, I did.  

Q. So based on -- and so part of your review was 

looking at these documents?

A. Yes.  Correct.  
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Q. So that would include Exhibits 9 and 10, which 

were provisionally admitted, as well as 12 and 13, which 

were provisionally admitted; you did look at those?

A. Yes.  Not as in-depth as Exhibit 12 and 13 

because they were not information that I needed to 

review.

Q. So 12 and 13 were not as necessary for your 

review?

A. Yes.

Q. But you did review them? 

A. Yes.

Q. I think that's helpful.  

MR. AGWARA:  Counsel, can you slow down.  You guys 

are going too fast.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Ms. Reporter, can you 

hear Ms. Bradley?  Ms. Bradley is a fast talker, and 

Dr. Chen is a soft talker, so we'll try to moderate that 

a little bit.

THE REPORTER:  Thank you.  Thank you, Counsel.  

BY MS. BRADLEY:  

Q. I wanted to just say then, Mr. Hearing 

Officer, I don't know if Dr. Chen's testimony changes 

your provisional admission of 12 and 13.  She testified 

that she did review them, although maybe did not rely on 

them extensively in her review.  So I wanted to bring 
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that up in case that changes the admission.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Are you going to get 

into any substance with Dr. Chen on 12 and 13?  

MS. BRADLEY:  No.  I don't believe so.  Primarily 

we're concerned with Exhibit 11, as well as Exhibit 8.

THE WITNESS:  Can I add something?  Exhibit 12, I 

did read the history, that was helpful.  13 was when she 

was in ICU, so kind of repetitive and not very helpful.  

So I think 12 was more important than 13.  

MS. BRADLEY:  I don't know if you heard that. 

Dr. Chen is saying Exhibit 12 is helpful to 

her with the patient history more than Exhibit 13, but 

she did say that 12 helped her with understanding the 

history of the patient, and then 13 was repetitive for 

her, but she did look at it as well. 

We're not going to rely overly on 12 and 13, 

but they are documents regarding Patient A that were 

reviewed in the case, so part of the reason we were 

trying to admit them is to ensure that everything that 

Dr. Chen relied on was in the record.  That was my goal.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Before I give Mr. Agwara 

the opportunity to object.  Dr. Chen, looking -- with 

reference to Exhibit 12 that you said was helpful to 

you, was there anything that you recall in Exhibit 12 

that seemed -- I guess, I would say, where you read 
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something or saw something that made you question the 

validity of the record that you saw in Exhibit 12? 

Is there anything that seemed out of the norm?  

THE WITNESS:  It's hard to recall everything that 

I read, but just glancing at it, I feel like it did 

provide a pretty thorough and comprehensive past history 

for her, the medications that were given to her in the 

past, and diagnosis.  That was helpful for me.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  I'm inclined to admit 12 

for now. 

Mr. Agwara, do you have any position on the 

admission of 12?  

MR. AGWARA:  If the test for admission is whatever 

it was helpful, then a lot of things would get admitted.  

If counsel doesn't intend to get into that exhibit for 

substance, like you initially asked, what's the point of 

admitting it?  

MS. BRADLEY:  I would respond to that by under 

233(B) allows anything that is helpful.  I can cite to 

the statute if you like, but it's a pretty relaxed 

standard for admission in administrative hearings, and 

it's generally something that's relevant and not unduly 

repetitive. 

Again, if 13 isn't admitted, I don't know how 

much I care.  I provided it because Dr. Chen reviewed 
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all these documents, and I was trying to make sure the 

record was complete out of fairness to Dr. Okeke because 

I think everything that was peer-reviewed and relied on 

and review should be in the record.  That was my goal.  

I was trying not to hide evidence rather than provide 

too much.  I will find the statute.  Give me a second.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  I know the statute that 

you're referring to.

MR. AGWARA:  I don't disagree about what the 

statute says.  All I'm saying is that the initial 

question that the Hearing Officer asked should determine 

whether or not it comes in.  If you don't intend to ask 

any questions regarding that -- Mr. Woodman, I'll leave 

it up to you.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Thank you.  I want to 

clarify the record.  On 12 and 13 earlier, I actually 

did not provisionally admit those.  I withheld my 

decision.

MS. BRADLEY:  I apologize.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  That's all right.  I 

know you weren't trying to mislead me.  I'll 

provisionally admit 12, but it's still subject to what 

I hear in the rest of the hearing. 

Based on Mr. Diaz's testimony, and again, my 

own history with how things work in the IC's 
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investigations, I feel safe, especially under the 

relaxed evidentiary rules that we have in administrative 

hearing, 12 is admitted provisionally.  I'll see 

ultimately whether that stays in or goes out, and I'm 

still holding back any decision on 13 at this point.  

MS. BRADLEY:  Thank you.  Okay.  

Q. So Dr. Chen, I think if we look at Exhibit 8, 

we can see some records from Dr. Okeke regarding Patient 

A.  So my question for you would be, what was 

Dr. Okeke's diagnosis of Patient A?

A. It appears that the diagnosis from this 

assessment were Bipolar Disorder Type 1, Borderline 

Personality Disorder -- 

Q. If you could read a little slower.  You're 

reading really fast. 

A. Got you.  So from the assessment, which was 

performed by the psychometrist, he agreed with the 

diagnosis of Bipolar Disorder Type 1 with Psychosis.  

Methamphetamine abuse.  Alcohol dependency.  And 

Borderline Personality Disorder.  

MR. AGWARA:  Was she reading from a particular 

page because this is Bates stamped?  

MS. BRADLEY:  We were looking at Exhibit 8.  I'm 

not sure what page.

THE WITNESS:  32.
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MS. BRADLEY:  Page 32.

MR. AGWARA:  That helps.  

MS. BRADLEY:  She was looking at Page 32 and 

talking about the diagnosis of Patient A.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  And Dr. Chen, when 

you're reading, we tend to read fast, especially doctors 

do, and keep in mind, our reporter is trying to write 

down everything that you say, so you have to help her 

out.

THE WITNESS:  I will.  Sorry about that.  

BY MS. BRADLEY:  

Q. Dr. Chen, what is your overall opinion 

regarding Dr. Okeke's care of Patient A?  

A. I felt there were some areas that fell below 

the standard of care, especially regarding the 

thoroughness of documentation.  When I was reviewing it, 

I did have some difficulty, kind of, deciphering his 

medical decision-making.

Q. When you say documentation, what do you mean 

by that? 

A. Just from looking at the progress notes, it 

was really hard for me to get a good grasp of her 

symptomatology.  It was difficult to see how severe her 

symptoms were at what specific time.  There were 

medication changes that I couldn't decipher the 
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justification for.  And I just felt those areas were 

lacking.  

Q. Okay.  I think there's some conversation -- 

well, some use by Dr. Okeke of template material. 

What is template material?  

A. In the electronic medical records, there is a 

way to kind of expedite your notes because documentation 

can be rather burdensome.  So there are specific 

templates that you can use that you can kind of set up 

your notes, so they are similar from patient to patient, 

visit to visit, and it helps guide you or remember what 

to put in the note that might be helpful.  

Q. Did you note Dr. Okeke's use of template 

material in notes?

A. There was definitely a template that was used, 

and my concern was sometimes information from one note 

to the other wasn't really changed, or it really just 

remained the same.  It didn't provide any updates, in my 

opinion, how she was doing in the interim from visit to 

visit.  

Q. So it sounds like what you're saying is there 

may have been a note made at one visit, but then that 

note didn't get changed the next time?

A. Yes.  I would say so.

Q. So that's a pitfall for electronic records?
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A. For sure.

Q. It's trying to help us, but it can fill in the 

same things?  

A. Yes, unfortunately.  

Q. So let's look at Exhibit 11.  I believe these 

are the records from Dr. Okeke regarding Patient A, and 

I'm sure you have reviewed these records before.  

A. Yes, I have.  

Q. So this top visit, the first visit here, do 

you see the date on this page?

A. Yes.  It is July 17th, 2017.  

Q. Okay.  If we go to the back, I think we'll go 

to the last visit probably.  So if we go to NSBME 0242.  

Do you see that page? 

A. Yes.  That is dated August 19, 2019.  

Q. Do you see who saw the patient on that day?

A. Yes.  It was Deborah Perkins.

Q. So it doesn't look like Dr. Okeke saw her?

A. No.

Q. Let's go back to NSBME 0236?

A. That's still Deborah Perkins.  

Q. Okay.  Then if we go to NSBME 0229.  

A. That was the psychologist.

Q. Vanessa Parker?

A. Yes.  
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Q. And then NSBME 0223?

A. Again psychologist.

Q. And again, I think it's the psychologist on 

NSBME 0217?

A. Correct.  

Q. Okay.  But if I go to NSBME 0215, was that 

Dr. Okeke?

A. Yes.  

Q. What date is that visit?

A. May 30th, 2019.  

Q. So then it looks like, if we look at the 

records starting from the beginning, it was July 17, 

2017, that the patient saw Dr. Okeke, maybe all the way 

through May 30, 2019. 

Does that sound right to you?  

A. Yes.

MR. AGWARA:  Objection.  That doesn't reflect the 

record accurately.  The last visit was 4/16/2019, not 

May.  

MS. BRADLEY:  Okay.  Well, we're looking at a 

record that is NSBME 0215 on this exhibit.  It says 

visit date 05/30/2019, attending physician, Dr. Okeke.  

Are you saying that's not an accurate record?  

MR. AGWARA:  Just a minute.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  The objection will be 
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overruled because this document is admitted into 

evidence, and the record states what it states, but on 

cross-examination, Mr. Agwara, if you can challenge the 

credibility of that record, that's certainly going to be 

noted.

MR. AGWARA:  That's fine.  Go ahead.  

BY MS. BRADLEY:  

Q. So what is your opinion regarding Dr. Okeke's 

prescribing patterns for the patient in this case?

A. My opinion was that the prescribing was a 

little, I guess, sloppy.  Again, there were rare 

occasions where I didn't really figure out why he was 

prescribing what he was prescribing, and what symptoms 

he was trying to target.  And so upon reflection, I do 

remember that there were instances where the patient, 

kind of, stopped medications on her own or wanted to 

re-start, and I don't think there was a discussion how 

dangerous these behaviors could be.  I also remember 

that there were times when she had requested certain 

medications, and it seemed like Dr. Okeke was willing to 

prescribe it without further exploration, or at least it 

was documented in the note.  

Q. You prescribe medicine for your patients?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. When you talk about documentation, what would 
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you have expected to see documented regarding 

prescribing?

A. I would like to review whatever symptoms are 

relevant to the patient at that time.  Insomnia, 

increased agitation, instability, poor focus; those are 

symptoms that I try to target with my medication and 

regimen.  That would help guide me into what medication 

they choose, what doses I choose, and switching of any 

medication, I would put that in my note.

Q. You would note the symptoms the patient has?

A. Right.

Q. What medicines might treat that? 

A. Right.  I always have a list of current 

medications, and I walk through my treatment plan for 

decreasing or switching to a different medication than 

what I had put in my subjective history.  

Q. In Dr. Okeke's care of Patient A, were 

medications changed in this nearly two-year period?

A. There were lots of changes in medications, and 

there's a running list of all the different medications 

that she'd been tried on in each of the notes.  

Q. Let's look at maybe the first visit.  Are you 

looking at the July visit?

A. Yes.

Q. This sounds like the first visit.  Do you see 

SHARON CAHN, CSR, INC.  714-813-0320
CERTIFIED ELECTRONIC TRANSCRIPT

52

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



any discussion regarding prescribing in this visit?

A. In the treatment plan, it does mention 

medication management, and he discussed side effects and 

alternatives it looks like, but in the treatment 

medications -- 

MR. AGWARA:  What page?  

MS. BRADLEY:  We are looking at NSBME 0043.

THE WITNESS:  It's not always necessary to write a 

medication, but usually it's mentioned somewhere in the 

note.

BY MS. BRADLEY:  

Q. Okay.  Just so we're clear.  You're looking at 

the treatment plan, and in the treatment plan part, he 

talks about medications?

A. Yes.

Q. And is there something that you think is 

lacking in this spot here?

A. I feel that it could have been helpful to 

understand why each of these medications were 

prescribed.  

Q. Okay.  If we look at treatment medications, 

are those things that she's going to start taking, or 

are those new ones, or how do we know?

A. That is why I was confused when I was reading 

the notes because of -- I don't know if -- 
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THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry to keep interrupting, but 

it's hard on this end when the mic is right by where 

you're flipping papers, and that's all we hear.

 (Technical difficulties.)

MR. AGWARA:  I haven't done a lot of depositions.  

This is advisory on my part.  It may look like you're 

having a conversation with counsel, but actually, 

remember it's more important that we hear you.  She can 

hear you sitting right next to you, but it's not a 

conversation that you're having.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  And again, by nature, I 

can tell you're soft spoken, which is fine, but 

especially for our Court Reporter who is in Clark 

County, and obviously, Dr. Okeke and his attorney have 

to hear you.  Try to avoid speaking when you're turning 

pages because that microphone is right there, and that 

comes across as very loud.  

MS. BRADLEY:  I'm sorry.  I'm asking her to look 

at pages.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Right.  So if she asks 

you to flip to a page, go ahead and do it before you 

start talking.  

MS. BRADLEY:  Okay. 

Q. I think we were talking about NSBME 0043, the 

treatment plan and the treatment medications, and you 

SHARON CAHN, CSR, INC.  714-813-0320
CERTIFIED ELECTRONIC TRANSCRIPT

54

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



said you had some confusion.  

A. Yes.  It's hard for me to tell upon my first 

review whether the treatment medications was what she 

was already on or what she's starting.  I imagine it's 

what she was already on, but I can't tell if there were 

any additional medications or not.

Q. Let's go ahead and look at the next visit.  So 

that's NSBME 0045?

A. Yes.

Q. So looking at this visit, do you have concerns 

regarding the documentation here?

A. So I guess this is where I can recall my train 

of thought.  If you compared this note to the next note, 

it looks like maybe the copy/pasting may have taken 

effect as the body of the chief complaint is similar, if 

not verbatim, of the visit before.

Q. I'm looking at August 14, 2017, and you're 

saying it's the same as the previous one or the one that 

comes next?

A. The next one.

Q. I'm trying to make sure the record is clear.  

NSBME 0045 is August 14, 2017, and you mentioned the 

chief complaint?

A. Yes.  Of course, the medication was injected 

in a different spot, but the rest of the body of the 
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chief complaint is similar.

Q. So you're comparing it with NSBME 0050, and 

that visit is dated September 11, 2017; is that correct?  

A. That's correct.

Q. And you're saying the chief complaint looks 

like there's a lot of template material copied over, 

right?

A. Yes.  I think it's the same for the next visit 

as well.

Q. If we keep going to NSBME 0055, October 9, 

2017, you're saying that's the same template?

A. Yes.  

Q. And does that continue like that?

A. I think it does.  On the 11/6 visit, the 12/4 

visit as well.  

Q. So 11/6, just for the record, is NSBME 0060, 

and 12/4/2017 is NSBME 0065.  Okay. 

So, and I guess, I would want to compare that 

with what would you expect to see in a visit note?  

A. Maybe just some minor differences.  I'm sure 

not everything was touched upon that it could have been.  

Just something different.  

Q. So it sounds like then, at least in your 

practice, it would be uncommon to have the chief 

complaint listed the same way in each visit?
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A. Right.  

Q. Okay.  I think we were talking about 

prescribing patterns, and you testified that there was 

lack of documentation, and I was hoping that we could 

find examples in the records where you would like to 

have seen more documentation?

A. Unfortunately, it's been a while since I was 

able to review these notes, but I'm trying to look back 

at my previous notes that I had written when I was first 

reviewing.  There were just a bunch of changes or 

additions of medications that didn't really have a 

rationale behind that.

Q. So if a patient is on a certain medication, 

right?  Let's use an example of one that the patient was 

taking here. 

What was one that she was taking?  

A. Just from my notes, I don't know if there's a 

note from 10/8/2014.

Q. 10/8/2014?

A. Right.

Q. I don't think she started seeing him until 

2017.  That might have been Exhibit 12.  I mean, we can 

talk about it in general then. 

If a patient is on certain medications, what 

would you do to increase the medication?  
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A. I guess if there were complaints that they 

were still not feeling any efficacy from that dose, I 

would, of course, gauge what symptoms they're still 

struggling with and increase or decrease based on their 

answer.

Q. Would that be documented in your notes for 

that patient?

A. It would be.

Q. So you would document a symptom that it's not 

improving, and that's your reason for change?

A. Correct. 

Q. How does it work for decreasing?

A. I guess, for example, if I saw that there were 

more side effects with an increased dose and the patient 

felt better at a lower dose or did get some efficacy, I 

might try decreasing the dose, or if there was a need to 

cross-taper off a medication and start another 

medication, I would decrease the dose for a certain 

amount of time while concurrently to trying a different 

medication to see if that could be more helpful with 

symptoms.

Q. Would that be documented in the notes? 

A. Yes.

Q. Did you see in Dr. Okeke's records that the 

patient's medications were increased at times?
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A. Yes, I did.

Q. And did you see that they were decreased at 

times?

A. Yes, I did. 

Q. Did you see that rationale documented in the 

records? 

A. I don't think always, no.  

Q. Sometimes?

A. Yes, possibly.  

Q. But it sounds like not to the level that you 

would expect?

A. Right.  

Q. Why is it so important to have this 

documentation in the records? 

A. I feel like it is just basic care.  I mean, if 

there's a continuity of care, if they're switching 

providers or someone needs to read the notes, then it's 

easy to clearly see what's been going on with the 

treatment, throughout the treatment.

Q. How many patients do you normally see in your 

practice?

A. Probably 40 patients a week or more.  

Q. So one of the reasons for good documentation 

is it helps you remember where the patient is at?

A. For sure, yes.
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Q. Because you can't remember every individual 

one?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you have other people who work with you in 

your practice? 

A. I do.

Q. So they may also see your patients?

A. Yes.

Q. So it would be helpful for them to know what's 

going on?

A. Right.  

Q. So you had concerns, I think you said, 

regarding the documentation, regarding the changes, 

increase and decrease. 

What about changes in medication?  How does 

that work?

A. I would prefer seeing that documentation and 

reasoning why you would switch from one medication to 

the next just to kind of get a better idea of the 

thought process that went behind the medication changes.

Q. You mentioned cross-tapering earlier?

A. Yes.

Q. What does that mean?

A. If there is an instance where a patient is not 

responding well to one medication, it could be 
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beneficial to switch to a different class or a different 

medication within the same class.  Cross-tapering would 

be a practice where you were decreasing the medication 

that was inefficacious and starting a new medication 

that could be tried to see if they help with the 

symptoms that they are still complaining at the same 

time.  

Q. Okay.  And we're talking about medications.  

What kind of medications are we talking about?  

Antibiotics?

A. No.  Anti-depressants, anti-psychotics, mood 

stabilizers.  

Q. Are they controlled substances? 

A. No, they are not.  But controlled substances 

would be like a benzodiazepine medication.  

Q. Did the patient receive some of those 

medications as well?

A. Yes, she did.  

Q. She received anti-depressants, it sounds like?  

A. Yes.

Q. What category are those?

A. There could be atypical anti-depressants. 

Serotonin reuptake inhibitors and serotonin 

norepinephrine.

Q. But those aren't controlled -- I guess what 
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I'm getting at is like, what kind of medications make 

you have to check the PMP, that prescription -- 

A. So the stimulants, a lot of ADHD medications 

are stimulant based, and then it depends on the 

benzodiazepines that have been used to treat acute 

anxiety.

Q. Those would be controlled substances, right? 

A. Yes.

Q. So we're clear -- 

(Simultaneously speaking.) 

THE REPORTER:  Excuse me.  Can I just ask you to 

slow down because you're both speaking at the same time.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  So conversationally, we 

do this all the time, but wait for Ms. Bradley to finish 

her question before you answer.  It's trying to undo 

what we do in our conversations every day.  

MS. BRADLEY:  Okay.  Excuse me?  

MR. AGWARA:  I just made a joke.  I'm sorry.

MS. BRADLEY:  Okay. 

Q. So controlled substances, you said, have a 

heightened prescribing requirement; is that fair?

A. Yes.  I would say so.  

Q. So based on your review of the records, what 

kind of medications was the patient taking in this case?

A. She was prescribed different ADHD medications.  
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I can see Adderall was -- the dosage was changed with 

the Adderall.  She was also taking Valium, which is a 

Benzodiazepine, and there was a history of Klonopin as 

well.

Q. What is Klonopin?

A. Klonopin is a different Benzodiazepine.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  What do you say?  

THE WITNESS:  A different Benzodiazepine.  There's 

different properties to different benzodiazepines, I 

guess.  

BY MS. BRADLEY:  

Q. So those three, the ADHD med, the Valium, and 

the Klonopin, are those all controlled substances?  

A. Yes, they are.

Q. What other kinds of medicines was she taking?

A. She was taking anti-psychotics, mood 

stabilizers, and sleep aids, anti-depressants.  

MR. AGWARA:  Is she reading from a page?  

MS. BRADLEY:  No.  

MR. AGWARA:  She appeared to be reading from 

something.

MS. BRADLEY:  She has some notes regarding her 

review that she's looking at.

THE WITNESS:  I have notes that I took from a 

couple of years ago when I was doing the review.
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MS. BRADLEY:  I'm sorry.  Just to try to 

understand the different medicines.  

Q. So anti-psychotics, are those controlled 

substances?

A. No, they are not.  

Q. What about mood stabilizers?

A. Mood stabilizers can be helpful in treating 

bipolar disorder.  It seems like she was on -- she had 

been on Gabapentin, and that could be used in seizure 

disorders or mood instability or anxiety.

Q. Are those controlled substances?

A. No.

Q. And anti-depressants, I think you said are not 

controlled substances?  

A. No. 

Q. And what about sleep aids?  Are those 

controlled substances?  

A. Some can be.  She was on, I think, Anorexin 

(ph.), Belsomra that is like a Schedule 4 medication.  

Trazodone, which is a terrible anti-depressant, but it 

has been used for sleep, and is not a controlled 

substance.

Q. When you say Schedule 4, can you tell us for 

the record the different schedules?  I know there's -- 

A. Schedule 1, I believe, are all the illegal 
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drugs.  The illicit drugs.  Schedule 2 are the next 

level down, which is still pretty addictive and has 

potential for abuse, and those are the stimulants.  

Q. Like the ADHD meds?

A. Yes.

Q. And then you said Schedule 4 was maybe the 

Trazodone -- 

A. I believe Schedule 4 is probably -- 

Benzodiazepines fall in that category as well.  

Q. I think when we looked at the first visit, if 

we go to NSBME 0040, you mentioned it says that she -- 

something about a history of Methamphetamine use, I 

think you said.  

A. That was in the report from the psychometrist.

Q. Okay.  That's Exhibit 8.  I apologize. 

Exhibit 8, when we look at her diagnosis, it 

says NSBME 0029, it talks about addiction to 

methamphetamines.

A. Yes.  The actual diagnosis is on 0032.

Q. 0032 says Methamphetamine abuse. 

So when you have a patient that has a history 

of substance abuse and needs medication to help them, 

what does that mean to you as a clinician?  

A. It definitely is a little bit of a red flag.  

I think you have to be a little bit more diligent to 

SHARON CAHN, CSR, INC.  714-813-0320
CERTIFIED ELECTRONIC TRANSCRIPT

65

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



make sure there are no diversion or abuse of these 

medications. 

We, at my clinic, have a controlled substance 

agreement where they sign it.  There's certain things 

that we request, like random drug screens or any other 

lab work.  If they want to get their prescription 

filled, they have to sign our agreement.

Q. You have an agreement.  Random drug screens.  

Do you also -- 

A. Yes.

Q. -- check the PMP -- 

A. Yes.  That is mandatory.

Q. Mandatory?  

A. Yes.

Q. When you say mandatory, what does that?

A. We must check their PMP when there is 

initiation of Schedule 2, or unscheduled prescription, 

and I believe every three months during treatment as 

well.  

Q. Okay.  Every three months. 

So every three months that you continue to see 

the patient, you have to check -- 

A. Yes.  

(Simultaneously speaking.)

(Reporter clarification.)
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HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Let's continue.  

BY MS. BRADLEY:  

Q. So did you see evidence in your review of the 

records in this case that Dr. Okeke did the random urine 

drug screens that you were talking about?

A. I believe there were instances where I did see 

a urine drug screen, yes.

Q. Was it as frequent as you think it should have 

been?

A. That's up to the provider.  I would say once a 

year at the very least would be sufficient.

Q. Did you see that in this case then?

A. It's hard for me to recall the specifics as 

far as when they were ordered and how frequent.  I know 

there was at least one that I saw.

Q. At least one?

A. Uh-huh.

Q. What about your opinion regarding his ordering 

a baseline or routine lab work for the patient?

A. So in my opinion, I feel like baseline labs 

are very helpful just to kind of establish what the 

baseline is, especially when they are taking medications 

that can have metabolic effects like the anti-psychotics 

and to rule out any other medical issues that could 

contribute to symptoms, like a thyroid issue or other 
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hormonal imbalance.  So it's just a good practice to get 

lab work done when you can to establish a baseline.

Q. How often would you order lab work?

A. In my practice, I try to get lab work done 

during the initial evaluation.  If the patient says 

they've seen a primary care, I'll try to request 

records, so I have it in my own chart.  

Q. Did you see evidence then of Dr. Okeke 

ordering baseline or routine lab work or conditioning?

A. I do not recall seeing any lab results in the 

chart.  

Q. So your opinion, would that be failure to 

follow the standard of care?

A. I would say yes.  

Q. I think we've talked about the multiple drugs 

that the patient was taking.  Do those have interactions 

with each other?

A. They definitely can.  

Q. Did you have concern regarding Dr. Okeke's 

monitoring of the potential medical interactions for 

these drugs?

A. I did, just because of the dosages and how it 

can be, I guess, cumulative, the effects of sedation and 

whatnot and some cognitive dulling.

Q. When you say dosages, what do you mean?  High 
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dosages?

A. High dosages and just the different 

medications that have that same side effects.  So it's 

kind of a synergistic effect, I would say.

Q. You mean two medicines with the same kind of 

effect, like a sedating effect? 

A. True.  Yes.

Q. And you would want to note that?

A. Yes.  Or at least discuss it with the patient.  

It seems like she had a high tolerance to some of these 

medications, but there might be counteracting others, or 

you know, causing different effects canceling each other 

out.

Q. Did you see discussion about that in 

Dr. Okeke's records regarding this patient?

A. No.  

Q. What is your opinion regarding Dr. Okeke's use 

of the Nevada Prescription Monitoring Program for 

Patient A?

A. I don't think I can remember seeing he checked 

the PMP or not.  Once you check the PMP, it will log 

your patient request history, and I didn't remember 

seeing that.  

Q. So based on your recollection, he didn't check 

the PMP for the patient? 
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A. I don't think so.  

Q. Just so we're clear, I think earlier you said 

something about a law that requires the PMP to be 

checked. 

Do you remember when that law went into 

effect?  

A. I don't remember.

Q. Would it be helpful if I said it might have 

been 2017?

A. Yes.

Q. I think, at least the notes that I read, show 

the concern maybe wasn't in the initial visits with her, 

but in 2018, he should have been checking -- 

MR. AGWARA:  Objection as to -- 

MS. BRADLEY:  I'll rephrase.  

Q. So if I help you with remembering the status 

of the law change, would it be at least part of the 

treatment?  Maybe he didn't have to look at the PMP, but 

at least at some point during the treatment, if he 

hasn't, he would have had to have?

A. Yes.

Q. As of May 2019, was it required to look at the 

PMP?

A. Yes. 

Q. So he saw the patient through May of 2019.  He 
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should have been looking at the PMP at that time frame, 

at least?

A. Yes.  

Q. I think we talked about Exhibit 14, but let's 

talk about that briefly. 

Exhibit 14, I think you've seen these before, 

but we didn't admit them. 

What is Exhibit 14?  

A. So these are the materials that I used to help 

substantiate my peer review.

Q. So these are documents that you provided to 

the Board?

A. Yes.

Q. Do these look to be true and correct copies of 

what you provided to the Board?

A. Yes.  

MS. BRADLEY:  Based on Dr. Chen's testimony, I 

would ask that Exhibit 14 be admitted.  

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Mr. Agwara, any 

objection to Exhibit 14?  

MR. AGWARA:  For what purpose?  

MS. BRADLEY:  She just testified that these are 

what she relied on as part of her peer review, so I 

think it's relevant.

MR. AGWARA:  It is being offered for the truth of 
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whatever is in it?  

MS. BRADLEY:  No.  It's being offered to show what 

Dr. Chen relied on.  That's what I said.  Hearsay is 

admissible in administrative hearings, so the Board 

could look at these and decide that he violated the 

standard of care.  They would just have to have other 

evidence available to them.

MR. AGWARA:  I have a problem letting it come in 

as evidence of anything.

MS. BRADLEY:  I understand that you have that 

problem.  I would submit that these are relevant because 

these are what Dr. Chen relied on, and this is what she 

provided to the Board after she finished reviewing this 

case, and it helps substantiate her opinion.

MR. AGWARA:  Are they results of peer-reviewed 

studies, or are these opinions?  

MS. BRADLEY:  You could look at them.  We gave 

them to you ahead of time.  So I think you can decide if 

you think they're opinion.  My understanding is that 

they're documentation that physicians relied on.  That's 

why Dr. Chen provided them.

MR. AGWARA:  She also relied on her notes, and I 

don't see those here, and those are probably more 

relevant.

MS. BRADLEY:  Her notes were taken for her own 
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purposes.  No, I didn't admit them.  I don't even have 

them.

MR. AGWARA:  I would defer to Mr. Woodman.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Dr. Chen, would you 

describe for me, and more importantly for the record 

because, I believe, again, from my past history, my 

experience in these cases for the IC and the Board, I 

think I know how this works pretty well, but for the 

record, will you describe where you get this information 

that you relied on in Exhibit 14, and what it does to 

help you in doing the work that you've been called on to 

do in this case?  

THE WITNESS:  Sure.  As with my peer-review, 

obviously, I kind of have my own opinion, and then I 

look for things on the internet that could support my 

opinion.  So that's where these came from.  There are 

guidelines as well for my own research as to what other 

people may be doing as far as standard of care.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  How does anyone know 

that what you are relying on here -- if you're doing an 

internet search, how do we know what you're using and 

relying on is reliable, is credible, and that it should 

be a part of the basis of your opinion?  

THE WITNESS:  I definitely see where you're coming 

from.  Like I said, I formulate my own opinion first, 
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and then I try to find supporting evidence to put into 

my review as the Board wants to review materials.  So 

they can see my train of thought and see how others can 

review these same issues, I guess.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  In the list, which I see 

10 articles listed, correct?  

THE WITNESS:  There are certain articles that I 

was able to print out.  I guess, for sake of paper, 

there are these practice guidelines.  2 and 3 are 

exhaustive --  

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  I understand that, but 

there's a list of 10 items that you used for your 

peer-reviewed materials?  

THE WITNESS:  Yes.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  As the doctor that your 

CV tells us that you are, is anything -- are any of 

these items in 1 through 10, did you have any concerns 

with the reliability or credibility of anything listed 

there in 1 through 10 in your professional medical 

opinion

THE WITNESS:  I mean, I believe there are some 

that I would really take with a grain of salt, but I 

think it's helpful.  I didn't really understand the 

legal process myself, so I thought it was responsible of 

me to look at how the law and medicine integrate 
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together.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  So anything in that 

list, 1 to 10, that you have any concerns with, if any 

of that was being reviewed by the Board itself, the 

state Board?  

THE WITNESS:  I don't think I would have any 

concerns.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  All right.  So then 14 

will be admitted. 

You may continue, Ms. Bradley.  

MS. BRADLEY:  Thank you.  

Can I take a couple-minute break.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  I think that would be 

good timing.  We are 10 to 11:00, approximately.  So 

let's take 10 minutes, and we'll come back just a couple 

of minutes before 11:00 o'clock.  Give our reporter a 

chance to rest and let everyone use the facilities.  

Let's try to be back two minutes to the hour.  

(Recess taken:  10:48 a.m. to 10:58 a.m.)

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  We're back on the 

record, and Ms. Bradley, you may continue with your 

examination of Dr. Chen in the matter of the Complaint 

against Matthew Obin Okeke, M.D.

BY MS. BRADLEY:  

Q. Dr. Chen, I think you testified earlier that 
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you do a contract with patients in your office?

A. When they're prescribed certain medications, 

yes, we do.  We have a control substance agreement.  

Q. Would you say that that's part of the standard 

of care you would expect?

A. I would say it's probably better for the 

doctor to have for liability issues.

Q. Do you see evidence of a contract like that 

with Patient A?

A. I don't believe I saw one, but I could be 

mistaken.  

Q. Let's look back at that first visit that we 

had on July 17, 2017, and if we go to NSBME 0040 is the 

first page, and it ends on 0044.  I think we talked 

about the treatment medications, and I think you said 

there was some confusion. 

I do see a list on 0040, current medications.

A. Right.  And so I feel like this is another 

fault of the template system.  It seems like the current 

medications may have been mislabeled, and it's a running 

history of everything that she had been prescribed 

before.  

Q. If you look at the treatment plan about 

halfway through, it says -- it appears that perhaps 

there's an error in the record with regards to the 
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gender of the patient.  See where it says, patient was 

educated on the dangers of alcohol to him, physical 

health, and his symptoms.  Do you see that?

A. Yes, I see that.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Which page are you on?  

MS. BRADLEY:  0043. 

Q. Was that something related to the template?

A. That may be another pitfall of the template, I 

guess, function.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Are you folks getting 

some feedback?  

THE REPORTER:  Yes.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  It's gone away up here, 

but if it interrupts, let me know.

MR. AGWARA:  We will.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Go ahead.

MS. BRADLEY:  Okay. 

Q. NSBME 0043, if you look under multi-axial 

assessment, it says alcohol dependence?

A. Yes. 

Q. But then when we go back to the diagnosis on 

Exhibit 8, does it refer to alcohol dependence?

A. It does.

Q. But it also says Methamphetamine use?

A. Correct.  
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Q. So let's turn to the next visit, August 14, 

2017, and if we go to NSBME 0046.  So we have that list 

of current medications. 

Is it your understanding those are what she's 

currently taking, or are you still thinking that's a 

list of the things she tried?  

A. Yeah.  I believe that's the list of things 

she's tried.

Q. Why would you think that?

A. Because Adderall is listed four different 

times at four different doses.  If she was taking it all 

at the same of the recommended dosaging.  There are a 

few different anti-psychotics.  So it wouldn't be the 

practice to be on four different anti-psychotics, but 

yeah.  

Q. Sounds like this isn't an accurate list then?

A. No; not of current medications.  

Q. So then, if we turn to NSBME 0048, we see 

treatment medications, and that continues to 0049.  Are 

you thinking those are new medications?

A. I believe those are the current medications.

Q. So that's what she's taking today?

A. Yes.  If you look above in the treatment plan, 

if we look, same note, patient was encouraged to stay 

clean from alcohol.  Patient was educated on the dangers 
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of alcohol to him. 

Does that appear to be the same note from 

before?  

A. Yes.

Q. Would you expect to see the treatment plan 

staying the same every time?

A. Some cases, when the patient is stable, it 

could be the same.  

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Hold on a second.  Is 

there an objection?  

MR. AGWARA:  I was going to object to "every 

time."  I don't think the doctor had actually testified 

to that.

MS. BRADLEY:  I apologize.  I misspoke.  I meant 

from the previous visit to this visit, we have the same 

note in the treatment plan with the same error referring 

to the patient as a male, and I was asking her if she 

thought the treatment plan would change, or if you had 

the same note every time for the treatment plan.

MR. AGWARA:  Thanks for the clarification.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Dr. Chen, your response 

to that question was?  

THE WITNESS:  So in my opinion, if a patient is 

stable, there could be minor changes to the treatment 

plan. 
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But it could be reasonable to have that same 

treatment plan if they're doing well on their current 

medication regimen.  

BY MS. BRADLEY:   

Q. Let's go ahead and go on to the next visit, 

which is September 11, 2017.  NSBME 0050. 

I guess my question to you would be, if you 

look at the list of current medicines, which we think 

she's tried and not what she's actually taking, and it 

sounds like, and it sounds like the things in the 

treatment medications is what she is taking.  How would 

we know if the medications changed?  

A. I would say medication changes could be 

mentioned in the subjective or the chief complaint 

section and/or the treatment plan section.  

Q. Okay.  I don't see that in that visit.  I 

guess we'll go forward a little more until we see that. 

Could I ask you, though, it looks like at 

least for these visits, she's getting Vivitrol, 350 

milligrams.  What is that?  

A. That is a medication to help with, I guess -- 

(Technical difficulties.)

(Reporter clarification.)

THE WITNESS:  First, it was approved for opioid 

dependency to help a person get off of opiates.  It's 

SHARON CAHN, CSR, INC.  714-813-0320
CERTIFIED ELECTRONIC TRANSCRIPT

80

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



used nowadays to help with any drug cravings, as well as 

there are indications for younger kids who have 

self-harm behaviors to decrease those urges.  

BY MS. BRADLEY:  

Q. I do note, for example, I'm looking at 0061, 

this is for a visit on November 6, 2017, and it says 

medication reconciliation performed. 

What does that mean?  

A. It means that you're making sure that the 

medications that they're taking are consistent with what 

you have in your notes.  

Q. How do you make sure?

A. I guess you would have these medications that 

are listed; you would go through them and see what the 

patient is currently still taking.

Q. It's a conversation with the patient?

A. Yeah.  It could be.  

Q. Okay.  I think we'll keep going with the 

records.  I don't see any changes quite yet in 2017. 

So if we go to NSBME 0070.  That is a visit 

dated January 16, 2018. 

Do you see that?  

A. Yes.

Q. I think if we look at the chief complaint 

there, the second paragraph, it looks like the patient 
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is not doing maybe as well this day?

A. Yes.  

Q. So does it look like there were any changes 

made or what happened on that day?

MR. AGWARA:  What day?  

MS. BRADLEY:  0070 and ends on 0074. 

Q. And I'm asking Dr. Chen if there were changes 

made to the treatment plan made for the plaintiff based 

on her complaint that day?

A. From reviewing my notes, I had questions 

because Adderall was added to the treatment medications 

without any discussion as to why.  

Q. Okay.  I see.  So if we look at NSBME 0074, 

Adderall 20 milligrams --

A. Correct.

Q. -- is right there, and it wasn't in the 

previous?

A. I don't believe it was.  

Q. Okay.  You would expect to see discussion 

about the addition of that?

A. Right.

Q. What kind of discussion?

A. Just indicating what it is being used for.  Of 

course it's an ADHD medication.  That should be 

reflected in the updated diagnoses.  It also was a 
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little bit of a red flag to me because in that chief 

complaint section, she had been complaining of anxiety, 

nervousness.  It sounds like -- (Continued inaudible) 

exacerbate these symptoms if prescribed incorrectly, I 

guess.  

Q. You said you would expect to see something 

updated in the diagnoses. 

Where is diagnoses listed?

A. On my multi-axial assessment on 0073.

Q. What would you expect to see added there?

A. Maybe a mention of ADHD or an indication for a 

stimulant to be added on; some sort of diagnoses.

Q. Just so I'm clear.  Is Adderall given to 

people that don't have ADHD?

A. There have been some off-label uses to help 

with mood, I would say, in the elderly or other 

populations, but there's no actual FDA approval, though.

Q. So if it's added, you would want to see a 

discussion somewhere in this record, why it's being 

added, and also something added to the assessment that 

supports the diagnosis for doing that?  

A. Yes.  Something like a rule-out, or something 

to explain why Adderall was added on in light of these 

symptoms that were reported in the subjective section.  

Q. Okay.  And if we go on to 0075, it appears 
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this is a report of psychological assessment that is 

different with what we have with a different date. 

How often would you expect to see a report 

like this for a patient?  

A. It just depends on the patient's history, I 

would say.  If they needed an updated psychological 

evaluation, I guess that would be helpful from year to 

year.  

Q. And if we look at the diagnosis here, what 

does N-O-S mean?

A. It stands for "not otherwise specified," but 

that terminology has been replaced with the DSM-5.  

Q. So here, we see substance abuse more generic 

and others we've seen alcohol?

A. Right.

Q. Do you have any concerns about this report at 

all? 

A. Just the diagnoses, yeah, since they are 

accepted in the DSM-5, it should be a little bit more 

specific.

Q. When were they replaced in the DSM-5?  Was it 

as of the date of this report?

A. Prior to this date, I believe.  

Q. It looks like the report was dated January 27, 

2018.  I'm sorry.  That's the date of the assessment, 
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and then January 18, 2018, was the report.  But prior to 

that?

A. Right.  

Q. So then it sounds like maybe an outdated 

version of the DSM was used or something?

A. It appears so.  

Q. So if we look at the next visit, NSBME 0080, 

and this is February 27, 2018.  Now, if we look at 0083 

bipolar disorder, current episode manic without 

psychotic features.  I guess we have seen that before. 

Were there any changes in medications on this 

day?  

A. I believe the Trazodone was decreased.  

Q. Is there any discussion on that?

A. Well, it had mentioned -- or the Trazodone was 

changed.  It did mention that she had stopped taking the 

prazosin, and she would like to increase the Trazodone.  

Q. Okay.  But there's no -- is there a medical 

reason?  I mean, this is what the patient is asking for. 

I'm just wondering, how would you expect to 

see a conversation with your doctor regarding a change 

in medication like this?  

A. I'm trying to double back to the one 

previously.  

Q. I think it's on 0074.  
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A. It doesn't look like there's a change here, 

though, if you're comparing the two notes and the 

medication list.

Q. Oh, she stopped taking them?

A. She stopped the prazosin.  

Q. Looks like Valium was added on this day.  

0084; do you see that?

A. I think ketamine was on there.  The only 

inconsistency would be the Valium is on there.  No.  It 

was on the prior note as well.  Sorry.  

Q. I can't see it on 0073 and 0074.  It has 

Valium, oh, it does, on the top?

A. Yes.  

Q. Okay.  So there's no change there?

A. No.  

Q. Let's keep going.  So if we look at NSBME 

0085, this is March 6, 2018, and here she's talking 

about increasing the dosage of Adderall and stopping the 

Vivitrol?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you see that the medications were changed 

based on this conversation?

A. I do.

Q. Do you see a medical reason documented for 

that change?
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A. I don't.  

Q. In your practice, if a patient came to you and 

said, I'd like to increase my medications, what would 

you do?

A. I would ask why do you feel that's necessary.  

What symptoms would you like to target.  Just those 

basics. 

Q. And would you note those in the records?

A. Yes.

Q. If they didn't have an answer, what would you 

do?

A. I probably would take a look at the overall 

picture and see if it's necessary or not.  Try to figure 

out a reason they're requesting such a change in 

medications.  

Q. Normally, you would say it's not the standard 

of care to change medications without documenting it, it 

sounds like?

A. Right.  

Q. And there needs to be a justification for the 

change?

A. Correct.  

Q. I think this is the first time that we're 

seeing the patient is smoking marijuana.  Would that be 

a concern to you?
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A. Yes, of course.  You would want to counsel 

them on drug use and how it could affect mood or other 

symptoms.

Q. If you're taking a substance like that, it 

could affect how other medications are working?

A. It could, but usually not, but it would put an 

earmark to do more drug screens more frequently.  

Q. I think you testified before that you saw one 

drug screen done in the time that Dr. Okeke saw the 

patient?

A. One that I can remember, but there could have 

been more.  I just don't remember.  

Q. If we move on to April 3rd, 2018, and this is 

NSBME 0090.  Here, it looks like the patient says she 

relapsed and wants to get the injection of Vivitrol, 

which I thought she was about getting every time.  Oh, I 

see.  She stopped it the previous one.  Okay.  Here, it 

sounds like she's having some anxiety and other 

symptoms. 

Do you see changes of medications for the 

patient in this visit?  

A. The Trazodone was increased back up to 150 

milligrams.  

Q. And that was from 50, it looks like?

A. A hundred.
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Q. No.  A hundred.  Is that a significant 

increase?

A. Not in my opinion, no.  

Q. Would you expect, though, to see that 

documented, the reason for changing it?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you see that documented here?

A. No.  

Q. I suppose we see the patient's complaints, but 

is that enough to document a change, just the patient's?

A. I just don't see it mentioning anything about 

sleep.  

Q. And that's what you would expect to see to 

increase that?

A. Right.  

Q. All right.  Let's go ahead and move on to 

NSBME 0095.  This is the visit of May 3, 2018. 

It sounds like the patient was also having 

some difficulty on this day. 

What do you see happened with regards to her 

medication on this visit?  

A. Her Valium was increased to 7.5 milligrams 

twice per day.  

Q. Okay.  7.5?

A. Yes.  
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Q. And is there documentation for the reasons for 

that?

A. It did state that she had been taking this 

same dose at 5 milligrams twice a day for over 10 years.

Q. So it was increased, but it hadn't been that 

before?

A. She had been on 5 milligrams twice a day for, 

it appears, over 10 years, and so now, since she was 

having more anxiety symptoms, I can only imagine that's 

why it was increased.  

Q. But you're guessing?  

A. Yes.

Q. If we go to NSBME 0100, this is a 

bio-psychosocial assessment.  Doesn't look like this was 

Dr. Okeke's.  So I think we can skip this one.  

So I think the next visit with Dr. Okeke is 

NSBME 0104. 

What happened at this visit with regard to the 

patient, symptoms of that patient?  

A. I think the Adderall was just decreased to 20 

milligrams again, and then -- 

Q. Looks like maybe Zoloft was added.  Is that 

accurate?

A. Yeah.  Zoloft was added.  

Q. Do you see documentation that supports the 
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changes in her medicine?

A. He did mention that she was feeling more 

depressed.  

Q. Okay.  

A. And there are some other neurovegetative 

symptoms that speak to the depression.  

Q. So looking at the chief complaint, that makes 

sense to you why there was the change?

A. I guess I would have to extrapolate, but yeah.  

Q. What would you consider better documentation?

A. Actually, I take that back.  He does list the 

symptoms that she had reported.  It may still be a 

template kind of documentation style, but it does 

mention some depression and hopelessness and lack of 

motivation, lack of energy.  

Q. I don't see a change in the multi-axial on 

Page 0107.  Would that be necessary?

A. Given her diagnoses, I probably wouldn't have 

her on an anti-depressant, but I guess we could change 

her current episode would be depressed instead of manic. 

Q. So it sounds like then the medications aren't 

probably what you would want prescribed?

A. Correct, but -- 

Q. But at least there's justification for them?

A. There is, but the only thing would be to 
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change the diagnosis since she's not in a current manic 

episode.

Q. Okay.  That hasn't been updated.  What would 

you expect it to say? 

A. Bipolar disorder or update it with current 

episode depressed.    

Q. Okay.  If we go to NSBME 0109, it looks like 

we have a different physician here as well, so we'll 

skip that until something we see with Dr. Okeke again.  

Looks like the next visit that Dr. Okeke had with her is 

NSBME 0123, and this is August 3rd, 2018. 

So what happened at this visit?  

A. There was just more complaints of anxiety 

symptoms.

Q. And did that change her medications or 

treatment plan?

A. It did not.  

Q. Okay.  Would you expect it to?

A. Not necessarily.  If the symptoms were not 

debilitating, I guess.  

Q. Okay.  NSBME 0128, and this is a visit on 

September 17, 2018, and this looks like this is a visit 

after she had a suicide attempt?

A. Yes.

Q. And also seizures?
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A. Yes.

Q. So what happened at that visit?

A. Patient A was following up after being 

released from the hospital for a suicide attempt.  

Q. Looks like she has new medications listed 

under that chief complaint section?

A. Yes.

Q. Would you say those are probably current meds?

A. Yes.  

Q. I don't see medication listed again other than 

the list of the past ones that we've been seeing that 

say current?

A. Right.  So that would lead me to assume these 

are the medications that she's taking currently.  

Q. Okay.  And if we look at the multi-axial 

assessment, it still says current episode manic.  Would 

that match recovering from a suicide attempt? 

A. No.  But I wouldn't say that's too important.  

I think the issue here was that she had a seizure while 

she was in the hospital, and I feel that should be added 

to her history because there are certain medications 

that could decrease the seizure threshold that she has 

been prescribed later on.

Q. If we look at NSBME 0130, it says no history 

of seizures there?

SHARON CAHN, CSR, INC.  714-813-0320
CERTIFIED ELECTRONIC TRANSCRIPT

93

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



A. Right.

Q. But that's not accurate anymore?

A. Correct.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Which page were you 

referring to there.

MS. BRADLEY:  NSBME 0130. 

Q. If we now go to NSBME 0134, and that's a visit 

dated September 25th, 2018. 

So what happened at this visit with this 

patient?  

A. It appears that she was thinking the Zyprexa 

was causing her an opposite effect and exacerbating her 

psychotic symptoms, so that was discontinued, and Geodon 

was started.  

Q. How would a patient know if the medicine was 

starting a symptom?

A. It's all subjective -- 

MR. AGWARA:  Objection.

MS. BRADLEY:  Excuse me?  

MR. AGWARA:  I objected to your question.  

HEARING OFFICE WOODMAN:  What's the basis for your 

objection?  

MR. AGWARA:  Calls for hearsay.

MS. BRADLEY:  Calls for what?  

MR. AGWARA:  Hearsay.  Asking the doctor how the 
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patient would know that a medicine was working.

MS. BRADLEY:  I'll respond that hearsay is 

admissible in an administrative hearing, and it can't be 

the sole determiner of a person's -- No. 1, if you're 

saying hearsay, it's admissible -- 

THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry, Counsel.  You're 

breaking up, and your screen is frozen.

 (Technical difficulties.)

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Ms. Bradley, why don't 

you restate your response.

MS. BRADLEY:  I heard that the objection was 

hearsay, which is not a valid objection in an 

administrative hearing.  Hearsay is admissible as the 

Nevada Supreme Court has decided.  It just can't be the 

only thing the finder of fact relies on in making a 

finding. 

Secondly, I'm not asking her to tell me 

hearsay.  And perhaps I misstated the question, but my 

intent was to ask, how would the patient know what the 

results -- you know, what a medication may or may not do 

given, generally, that patients aren't experts in 

medications.

MR. AGWARA:  You're asking the doctor to guess how 

one particular patient would respond.

MS. BRADLEY:  I heard you say hearsay.  I didn't 
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hear you say that guessing -- I'll rephrase the 

question.

MR. AGWARA:  Thank you.  

BY MS. BRADLEY:  

Q. Dr. Chen, in your experience, how would a 

patient know what the effect of a medication might be on 

their symptoms?

MR. AGWARA:  Same objection.

MS. BRADLEY:  Well, I'm going to respond that 

she's a licensed physician.  She works with lots of 

patients.  I'm asking in her experience how would a 

patient come to this conclusion.  It says in the records 

that she believes that this medication is causing a 

problem.  I think she can testify in her experience how 

patients come to these conclusions.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  If you have a response 

to that, you can answer.

THE WITNESS:  Okay.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  And if you want the 

question clarified so that it's very clear what question 

she's asking, that's fair too.

THE WITNESS:  Got you.  So when patients approach 

me with complaints that they feel symptoms may be 

related with a medication, there's a certain timeline 

that coincides, like with the start of the medication, 
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with the start of new symptoms they're not experiencing 

before.  There should be conversation about the risk, 

the side effects, and the benefits.  Maybe this is her 

medication related and having these side effects that's 

another way, and of course, the patients have the 

internet where they can search and see what common side 

effects and uncommon side effects might be present with 

the medication, and they can hone on in on what they 

want to hone in on, I think.  

BY MS. BRADLEY: 

Q. So it looks like there was a change here from 

Zyprexa to Geodon?

A. Yes.

Q. Based on that conversation?

A. Yes.

Q. Did anything else happen at this visit?

A. No.  

Q. I would then look at NSBME 0138.  This is a 

visit dated October 19, 2018.  I'm sorry.  Can we go 

back to the previous visit, 0135, and I note on that 

page, the neurologic still shows no history of seizures.  

Do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q. So that's still not accurate? 

A. Correct.

SHARON CAHN, CSR, INC.  714-813-0320
CERTIFIED ELECTRONIC TRANSCRIPT

97

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



Q. Would you say that might be a use of a 

template just not being updated?

A. Yes.  Another pitfall of templates.  

Q. NSBME 0138 is a visit dated October 19, 2018, 

and sounds like the patient is doing better on this day.  

Did anything change with the patient?

A. She had found her old prescription of Adderall 

and started taking it on her own accord.  

Q. Is that something that would be a concern for 

you as a physician?

A. I guess patients can do this quite often, but 

I would have that discussion of just having, you know, a 

clear transparent conversation with me before we would 

continue it further.  Just to kind of troubleshoot any 

symptoms that she could potentially have given her 

diagnoses.

Q. Was she now prescribed the Adderall moving 

forward?

A. Yes.  

Q. Okay.  Do you see Dr. Okeke talking with her 

or at least noting that he was concerned that she found 

an old prescription and was using it?  

A. I guess he did mention that she was aware that 

the Adderall could exacerbate her mania. 

Q. Do you see on Page 0140 under neurologic, 
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still has no history of seizures?

A. Correct.  

Q. Okay.  The next visit is November 16, 2018, 

and it's NSBME 0143.  Looks like the patient was doing 

well on this day. 

Were there any changes to her treatment plan? 

A. No.  

Q. The next visit, NSBME 0148, December 18, 2018.  

It also sounds like this was a relatively good day for 

the patient. 

Do you see any changes on this day here?  

A. No changes.

Q. Did you have any concerns?

A. No.

Q. I do note on NSBME 0150 the same error of no 

seizures is there?

A. Correct.  

Q. All right.  So the next visit, NSBME 0153.  

This was January 21, 2019. 

What happened with the patient on this day?  

A. So she had reported that she apparently tried 

to overdose for the third time.  

Q. And so what happened with regard to her 

treatment plan?

A. She had mentioned as well that the Vivitrol 
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may be causing some suicidal thoughts, and due to her 

own history and acknowledgment of her alcohol 

dependence, she did not want to be on Valium anymore.  

So the changes I see that the Valium had been taken off 

of her regimen.

Q. So the Valium was removed.  But I still note 

NSBME 0155 still shows no history of seizures?

A. Correct.

Q. And the multi-axial says current episode 

manic, 0156.  Would that be right?

A. Probably not after a suicide attempt.  

Q. So was there any documentation regarding the 

Valium other than, I guess, the chief complaints? 

A. No.  

Q. Are there any other concerns that you have of 

this visit?

A. So the Adderall was changed to 5 milligrams 

twice a day.  I'm not concerned about that, but there's 

still no diagnosis of ADHD.

Q. So you were concerned with the continued use 

of Adderall without medical justification?

A. Right.

Q. If we go to NSBME 0158, looks like this is 

another psychological assessment. 

Do you have any concerns about this report?  
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A. No.  

Q. Move on.  Then, I think we have some paperwork 

from the office.  Looks like the next visit we have with 

Dr. Okeke is NSBME 0172, and it's a visit dated 

January 25th, 2019. 

What happened with the patient at this visit?  

A. She was not doing too well as far as mood goes 

and struggling with some sleep issues.  

Q. Sounds like she might also have been anxious 

or tense?

A. Right.  Anxiety.

Q. What happened with her treatment plan?

A. Belsomra was started for sleep, and Fanapt was 

given as samples to see if that would help with 

psychosis or mood stability.

Q. Did you feel like this was adequate 

justification for those changes?

A. For the Balsomra, yes.

Q. Did you have other concerns?

A. I didn't see any mention of why the Fanapt was 

chosen.  

Q. Did you tell us what Fanapt is used for?

A. Fanapt is an anti-psychotic, but it can have 

indication to treat bipolar symptoms.

Q. What would you expect to see symptom-wise that 
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would justify it?

A. I would probably want to treat any mood 

instability, any mood swings, hypomanic, depression.  

Just help with mood overall.  Because there wasn't 

mention of mood as much as there was of anxiety.

Q. And then if we go to NSBME 0177, that's with a 

different provider, so we'll skip that one. 

The next visit with Dr. Okeke, looks like 

NSBME 0180, and it's dated February 4, 2019. 

What happened with the patient on this day?  

A. So she came in complaining of anxiety after a 

breakup.  She had mentioned that she stopped the 

Balsomra and Fanapt herself, as she was not feeling good 

after taking these medications.

Q. That's what D slash C -- 

A. Yes.  Discontinued.  

Q. Okay.  Are you concerned about a patient who 

stops medications on their own?

A. Yes.  Unfortunately, that happens a lot, 

though, but just having that discussions with them is 

important as well just to remind them that medication 

compliance is important because certain medications may 

have nasty withdrawal symptoms.  

Q. Okay.  What happened with the patient's 

treatment plan?
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A. It looks like Geodon was restarted.  

Gabapentin was added on.  Zoloft was restarted.  

Q. And I see a note that says discuss tapering 

down Valium, but it doesn't look like Valium was 

prescribed. 

A. Yeah.  It wasn't in the current treatment 

medication --

Q. Okay.  

A. -- section.  

Q. Do you have other concerns regarding this 

visit?

A. No.  

Q. Okay.  The next visit is NSBME 0185, and this 

is February 11, 2019. 

How was the patient doing on this day?  

A. Seems like she is doing better, but it appears 

that she had restarted the Valium on her own accord 

again.  

Q. And was her treatment plan changed?

A. Yes.  The Valium was added back on, and so was 

the Balsomra, which she had self-discontinued a couple 

of visits before.

Q. Did she seem to need the Balsomra?  Do you see 

anything supporting that?

A. No.  
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Q. So what would you expect to see to justify the 

Balsomra?

A. Complaints of insomnia.  

Q. Are there any other concerns about this visit?

MR. AGWARA:  You're still breaking up.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  How about now?  Are we 

coming through all right?  I'm seeing glitches in the 

screen.  Try it again, Ms. Bradley.

BY MS. BRADLEY:  

Q. My question was, did you have any other 

concerns about this visit?

A. I do not.  

Q. The next visit is NSBME 0190.  The visit is 

dated March 19, 2019. 

What happened with the patient at this visit?  

A. So she did admit to using Methamphetamine two 

days prior to the visit.  She also complained of more 

anxiety, guilt, and shame.  

Q. Was her treatment plan changed at that visit?

A. No.  It was not.  

Q. All right.  Is there anything that concerns 

you about this visit?

A. Just the relapse.  

Q. Okay.  Concerns of the patient, but is there 

anything that Dr. Okeke should have done that you think 
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on this one?  

A. I'm trying to see if there was a discussion 

about a relapse prevention thing would have been 

helpful.  

MS. BRADLEY:  Did you hear that, Madam Court 

Reporter?  

THE REPORTER:  I believe so.

MS. BRADLEY:  I just felt like she was mumbled. 

All right.  The next visit is NSBME 0195, and 

this is a visit dated on April 16, 2019. 

Q. What happened with the patient on this visit?

A. So she was requesting to having the Vivitrol 

injections again due to increasing alcohol cravings.  

She had been sober for the last two months from the 

Methamphetamine, but that was inconsistent with the last 

note.  Those are the highlights that I have.

Q. It says two months sober, but previously we 

know as of March 19, she reported using that.  So 

there's an error there?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay.  Was there a change in her treatment 

plan on this day?

A. Yes.  Naltrexone was started, which is the 

oral form of the Vivitrol.  

Q. Okay.  I note, too, now, in the multi-axial 
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assessment, there's additional bipolar disorder 

diagnosis that was added that says current episode 

depressed?

A. Yes.

Q. Which we hadn't seen before, I don't think.  

Yeah.  I think this is the first time we see that.  

Okay. 

Is there anything else about this visit that 

you'd like to talk about?  

A. No.  

Q. So then the next visit that we have is NSBME 

0200, and this is dated April 24, 2019.  And the 

presenting problem there says client has been distraught 

since her marriage divorce. 

This is the first time that we've seen the 

patient was married.

A. Right.

Q. I think recently it was a boyfriend breakup?

A. Right.  

Q. Okay.  What happened at that visit?

A. So it was decided upon that she engage in 

dialectical behavior therapy, and that was to start at 

the end of the month.  

Q. No changes to her medications?

A. No.
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Q. Do we even see her medications on this visit?

A. No, but I guess it's just a recommendation for 

therapy, so it may not be important.  

Q. It looks like it's a different version of the 

reports that we have.  Okay.  NSBME 0202 is the same 

date, April 24, 2019.  This is an adult bio-psychosocial 

assessment. 

Do you have any concerns regarding this 

report?  

A. No.  With the diagnoses again, it's not very 

clear.  

Q. That's on 0204?

A. Yes. 

Q. And you're saying that's not clear the 

multi-axial assessment?

A. Yes.  It's just with the bipolar disorders 

kind of contradicting each other.

Q. Because it says current episode depressed and 

current episode manic in the same?

A. Yes.

Q. You wouldn't write it that way?

A. I would put a mixed episode or just leave it 

as a Bipolar Disorder Type 1.  

Q. Okay.  

MR. AGWARA:  I'd like to point out that that visit 
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was only 8 days after the previous visit.

MS. BRADLEY:  What?  

MR. AGWARA:  I said the visit you're discussing 

occurred only 8 days after the previous visit.  

MS. BRADLEY:  No.  We were talking about an 

assessment that was done on April 24, 2019, and there 

was also a visit on April 24, 2019.

MR. AGWARA:  I know.  I was just pointing out that 

that visit on that day was only 8 days after the 

previous one.

MS. BRADLEY:  Okay.  You'll have a chance to 

present that when you present your case.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  And in 

cross-examination, you can address it.  

BY MS. BRADLEY:  

Q. The next visit looks like NSBME 0205, and it 

was a visit dated May 9, 2019?

A. Yes.

Q. What happened with the patient on this day?

A. This was just a therapy note, so there wasn't 

much mention of what was going on.  

Q. Okay.  I do note, though, if you look under 

vital signs, there's like in the middle of a paragraph, 

there's symbols that are hard to read. 

Do you see those?  

SHARON CAHN, CSR, INC.  714-813-0320
CERTIFIED ELECTRONIC TRANSCRIPT

108

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



A. Yes.

Q. So that would be hard to decipher what's going 

on there?

A. Right.  

Q. And I see the same assessment for the 

diagnoses that are conflicting, where it says manic and 

depressed?

A. Correct.  

Q. Okay.  If we go to NSBME 0208, this is a visit 

dated May 14, 2019?

A. That's a different practitioner.

Q. Yeah.  Let's skip forward.  I apologize.  The 

next with Dr. Okeke is NSBME 0213, and that's May 23rd, 

2019. 

What happened with the patient on this day?  

A. This appears to be another therapy note.  She 

had missed a couple of weeks, but stated that she was 

not using medicine, and she was drinking every day.  

Q. Okay.  And I think we have also something in 

the middle of that paragraph under vital signs that's 

hard to read?

A. Right.

Q. Do you have any concerns about this note?

A. Not really, since therapy notes are pretty 

basic.

SHARON CAHN, CSR, INC.  714-813-0320
CERTIFIED ELECTRONIC TRANSCRIPT

109

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



Q. And we don't see anything regarding 

medications on this?

A. No.

Q. And then the next -- excuse me?

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Looks like they're 

talking to each other.

BY MS. BRADLEY:  

Q. The next NSBME 0215, this is a visit May 30th, 

2019. 

What happened with the patient on this day?  

A. So there's been complaints of anxiety and 

depression, but absent from alcohol and drugs for about 

a week.  And also, just looking back -- sorry.

Q. Okay.  

A. It appears these notes were written by David 

Buob, and Dr. Okeke co-signed them.

Q. Do you have any concerns about that?

A. No.  Just to mention.

Q. That's why they're therapy notes then rather 

than -- 

A. Right.

Q. -- And not a doctor visit?

A. Right.  

Q. And then I note, too, it's still has the 

symbol that's hard to read in the middle of that 
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paragraph. 

Do you see that?  

A. Yes.

Q. Is there anything else about this note that 

you have concerns about?

A. No.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  My notes indicate this 

is the end of the exhibits as far as Dr. Okeke is 

concerned.

MS. BRADLEY:  It is.  

MR. AGWARA:  Mr. Woodman, I'm going to need a 

three-minute break to run to the restroom and run back.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Let's go off the record, 

Ms. Reporter, for housekeeping.  

(Discussion was held off the record.) 

(Recess was taken:  12:01 p.m. - 12:10 p.m.)

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Let's go back on the 

record. 

Dr. Chen is still on the witness stand. 

Back on the record in the matter of charges 

and complaint against Matthew Obin Okeke, M.D. 

Dr. Okeke and Mr. Agwara are in the Southern 

Nevada office with the reporter, and the rest of us are 

in the Northern Nevada office. 

Ms. Bradley, you can go ahead and conclude 
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your examination questions on direct with Dr. Chen.  

BY MS. BRADLEY:  

Q. Dr. Chen, you testified that you did look at 

Exhibit 12, and I believe that has been admitted now.  

Is 12 admitted or provisionally admitted? 

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  It's provisionally 

admitted.  

MS. BRADLEY:  Okay.  

Q. Is there anything in Exhibit 12 that you found 

particularly helpful or that you want to put on record 

for the Board?

A. I guess what I found most helpful in Exhibit 

12 were the psychiatric evaluations and the discharge 

summaries.  It does provide good history and some other 

medication trials that she had been on in the past.  

Q. And then as far as Exhibit 13, I think that 

one was less relevant to you, but you did testify that 

you also reviewed that. 

Is there anything in Exhibit 13 that you would 

like to put on the record regarding your review?  

A. Yeah.  It seems like a lot of it was from 

maybe an ICU stay that I didn't find too helpful except 

for the diagnoses that they found, other diagnoses to 

get a full picture of her health. 

Q. So there were other medical conditions going 
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on in addition to the --

A. Right.

Q. -- psychiatric concerns?  All right. 

I think you probably reviewed the Clark County 

Coroner's Autopsy Report, which is Exhibit 9?  

A. Yes.

Q. Can you tell us what your thoughts are about 

this report?

A. So it seems pretty standard that it was an 

overdose, and it was ruled a suicide.  

Q. And I know that the patient had struggled with 

some suicide ideation in the past. 

Were some of the drugs used for this overdose, 

drugs that had been prescribed to her?  

A. Yes.

Q. And some of those were prescribed by 

Dr. Okeke?

A. Yes.  

Q. Is there anything you want to put on the 

record for the Board regarding this report?

A. Yes.  Just to mention the toxicity levels 

found with Patient A, and they also did note that she 

had been taking the diazepam or the Valium and Zoloft.  

So she was taking those at the time as far as they were 

able to detect.    
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Q. I know it's an unfortunate incident, but is 

part of the concern of not monitoring medications 

carefully that they can result in an overdose?

A. True, but this is a very complex patient who 

has a history of being on numerous medications.  It's 

hard to say, you're not taking this, throw it away.  

They often tend to stockpile or keep medications around, 

unfortunately.

MS. BRADLEY:  Okay.  I have no further questions 

for Dr. Chen.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Very good.  Mr. Agwara, 

you can begin your cross-examination of Dr. Chen.  

CROSS-EXAMINATION

BY MR. AGWARA:  

Q. Doctor, let me start where Ms. Bradley ended; 

the autopsy report. 

What is the relevance of this report to your 

testimony today?  

A. The relevance is it is an overdose that they 

had ruled a suicide, and the medications that they found 

to be at toxic levels were psychiatric medications.

Q. Based on your review of the records and your 

experience, did you find any evidence that Dr. Okeke had 

anything to do with this woman's suicide?

A. There's no direct correlation, I would say.  
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Q. Okay.  Now, moving on.  What recommendations 

would you make to Dr. Okeke going forward based on what 

you identified as some of the concerns you had? 

What would you recommend that he do different?  

A. I guess my main concern was just the 

documentation and having a clear understanding of the 

rationale or medical decision-making.  I feel it's 

important if there's another physician looking at your 

notes, it be a little more clear as to why you made 

changes to the treatment plan.

Q. That's your major concern.  Any other 

concerns?

A. I guess just dealing with the patient 

population who do have a history of self-injurious 

behaviors, suicide attempts, substance abuse, I would 

really want to see more of a holistic approach -- not 

holistic, but a whole approach as far as getting therapy 

on board; looking at AA, NA for relapse prevention.  

Just trying to cover all the bases and provide as much 

support as she can maintain for recovery, in addition to 

stabilize her mental health.

Q. And that would be a judgment call, correct?

A. Yes.  

Q. Now, would you agree with me that if another 

physician looked at your records that they could 
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disagree with some of how you practice -- 

A. Yes, for sure.  I'm sure they would.  

Q. Was there anything that you saw in your review 

that endangered the patient's life?

A. I guess my main concern is just all the 

different medications she was taking and maybe not 

getting a clear history of the medical prescriptions 

that she was also on.  I know there were times in that 

one drug screen, I do remember, I believe it was 

positive for opiates, so kind of wondering that whole 

picture as far as medical treatment and how that plays 

into her psychiatric care was a concern.  

Q. I didn't ask about your concern.  My question 

was whether or not you saw something that posed a threat 

to the patient's life that Dr. Okeke did?

A. To answer that, I guess the combination of 

medications may have posed a threat.  

Q. I do recall you stated in your testimony that 

the list of medications may be a function of the 

software, and it maybe listed more medications than the 

patient was taking?

A. Correct.  

Q. So with that in mind, I'll ask you the 

question one more time.  Did you see anything that 

Dr. Okeke did as a physician that endangered this 
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patient's life?  Not your concerns.  

A. I'd say no, not from reading the notes, but -- 

Q. Thank you.  

A. Again, those concerns I've already listed.  

Q. Do you know how long Dr. Okeke saw this 

patient?

A. I believe the first evaluation was back in 

2014.  So the initial psychiatric evaluation was in 

October of 2013.  And then I think she lost treatment 

for a while, and popped back up in July 2014, and then 

off and on since then.  

Q. Is there a reason why you started or limited 

your review and your testimony today, starting from 

2017?

A. I'm not quite sure.  

Q. You're not sure of the reason, or you're not 

sure of what?

A. I'm not sure why everything started after 

2017.

Q. So that wasn't your decision?

A. No.  

Q. Okay.  Did you review the records for the 

first time Dr. Okeke saw this patient?

A. I did.  

Q. And is it still your testimony that there was 
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no patient consent form signed?

A. I don't think I ever said there was no patient 

consent form signed.

Q. I apologize.  Did you find one, or don't you 

recall?

A. I can't recall.  I'm trying to look at my 

previous notes, but it's hard to decipher.  It's been so 

long ago.  

Q. That's okay.  Now, let me get more specific 

with your testimony. 

Is it your opinion that on three visits, if 

you have similar notes in the records, that somehow that 

is evidence of practice below the standard?  

A. I would say similar notes, I see it all the 

time with colleagues.  I just feel there has to be some 

change to comment on instead of commenting on nothing.  

Q. So if a patient came to see you on Day 1, 

Day 3, and Day 7, and nothing has changed, and they were 

doing fine, why would you change something in your note?

A. I don't see why there would be a need to see 

them that frequently if they were stable.  

Q. Let's say two weeks or every 30 days.  If they 

were doing fine and being compliant with your 

instructions, why would you change anything for the sake 

of changing something?
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A. Well, I guess my main concern was in the body 

of the note, it listed lots of different symptoms, and I 

kind of questioned, did you really ask these questions 

if you see no changes.  

Q. You said you see a lot of this with a lot of 

your colleagues, and you think the people who do this 

are wrong, or do you think they're making stuff up?  

What exactly are you trying to say?

A. So I guess what I'm saying is, if there isn't 

much change from visit to visit, I would say there 

haven't been any changes.  The patient reports to be 

doing well.  No suicidal thoughts, no homicidal 

thoughts.  I guess in his notes, it did list a lot of 

review of symptoms that, you know, it could be better 

summarized there were no changes, patient is doing well, 

instead of all these different symptoms that I don't 

know were these questions asked or not.  

Q. So your concern is not with the similarity of 

the notes on the three different dates, but with the 

questions that may or may not have been asked; is that 

correct?

A. I guess that's correct, yes.  

Q. Okay.  Thank you.  Let me ask you this:  Is 

there a recognized industry-wide standard for 

sufficiency of justifications for changing prescriptions 
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or increasing or decreasing dosages?  

A. There's not a standard, but I believe it's 

good practice to spell out your thinking process.  

Q. When is that enough?  We went through a lot of 

records with you, and on many of them, you actually 

agreed with Dr. Okeke, but on some of them, you said, 

well, you didn't think that the explanations for why a 

drug was added or removed was sufficient.  That's what 

I'm asking. 

Is there a standard for what is considered 

adequate explanation?  

A. I would say with maybe lesser medications that 

are not controlled substances, it may not be as 

important, but given the patient's history and there 

wasn't a diagnosis of ADHD, and then Adderall just 

popped up on her treatment regimen, that was concerning 

to me.

Q. Why was it concerning to you?

A. Just in light of her other diagnoses that were 

listed without a clear reason to have the Adderall.  It 

could exacerbate her manic symptoms or anxiety, further 

worsening her mental state.  

Q. Would you agree that Adderall is used to treat 

aggression?

A. It can be off-label.  
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Q. Is it your testimony that you did not see 

depression as a diagnosis in this patient's -- in the 

notes that you reviewed?

A. Her main diagnosis was bipolar disorder.  

Q. I didn't ask about main.  

A. A person with bipolar disorder, there is 

depression, and there are periods of mania or hypomania. 

Q. So there was depression, correct?

A. But it isn't standard of care to treat bipolar 

with Adderall.

Q. No.  I'm just asking.  Did this patient suffer 

from depression or not?

A. Yes.

Q. You already testified that sometimes you can 

use Adderall to treat depression; is that correct?

A. It would be off-label use.

Q. But acceptable use?

A. With good reason.

Q. Is that a yes? 

A. With good reason.

Q. That's a yes with good reason.  Okay. 

Are you familiar with the software P-B-O-M-D?  

A. What was that again?  I'm sorry.  I missed it.  

Q. The software that physicians use called 

P-B-O-M-D.
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HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Is that P-D-O-M-D?  

MR. AGWARA:  P-B-O-M-D.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  P-B-O-M-D.  Okay.

THE WITNESS:  I'm not familiar with it.  

BY MR. AGWARA:  

Q. Well, I'll represent to you that that's the 

software that Dr. Okeke uses, and you already testified 

that, and this was without even knowing what software he 

was using, that it's not unusual for the software to 

repeat previous prescriptions as if the patient is 

currently taking them.  So you do know that that 

happens?

A. I could say it happens, but you could fix 

that.  Right?  You could change the headings, easily.  

Q. Okay.  Well, I don't know, but when you were 

testifying on your direct, you stated that you knew that 

the patient was not actively taking those prescriptions, 

those medications because of your experience as a 

doctor, that was not possible, and you did state that 

could be a problem with the software; is that correct?

A. That's correct.  

Q. Okay.  Now, let me ask you this:  Is it your 

testimony that because the records do not show 

discussions between Dr. Okeke and the patient that that 

means there were no such discussions?
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A. No.  

Q. Okay.  You're just saying the records did not 

reflect some discussions that you would have liked to 

see; is that correct?

A. Yes.  

Q. Is it your testimony that Dr. Okeke should 

have run the patient's PMP on every visit?

A. Not every visit.  The standard is upon 

initiation of controlled substance, and I would say 

every three months during treatment.  

Q. And during your review, did you find that that 

wasn't the case?

A. I found that wasn't the case just because in 

that report that, I think Kim Friedman had requested, it 

didn't look like Dr. Okeke had requested any during the 

treatment time, but I could be mistaken.  I just didn't 

get that information.  

Q. Did you have any concerns about Dr. Okeke's 

order or orders regarding the patient's psych 

assessments?

A. Can you clarify that question?  I don't know 

that I understand.  

Q. During the review on your direct, we saw 

three, maybe four psych assessments that were done. 

Would you agree with the frequency of those 

SHARON CAHN, CSR, INC.  714-813-0320
CERTIFIED ELECTRONIC TRANSCRIPT

123

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



assessments; that's basically what I'm asking?  

A. So those assessments were done by a 

psychologist to kind of update information.  I believe 

there was only one psychiatric evaluation, and that's 

all you really need.  

Q. So you didn't have any problems with that?

A. Not really.  

Q. Okay.  Now, on how many occasions did you note 

changes without an explanation?  I mean, if you don't 

have that number, that's fine.  

A. I don't have that number, unfortunately, but I 

had made notes to myself, but there were definitely, I'd 

say over 10 times, as a guess.  

Q. 10 out of how many?  Would you say the 

majority of times?

A. I would say the majority of times where there 

were changes, there wasn't a rationale.  

Q. Are you sure?

A. Yes.  

Q. Okay.  Do you want us to review every single 

one?

A. No.  

Q. I'm okay if you don't know if it's a majority 

or not, but if you're stating it's a majority -- 

A. I don't know.  I don't know.  I don't know.  I 
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know there was enough times that it was confusing for me 

to understand the process he was using.

Q. Okay.  That's fine.  Now, is it your testimony 

in the chief complaint section that the complaints by 

the patient are not sufficient explanations for changing 

prescriptions or reducing the dosage or increasing it?

A. There were definitely some notes which 

highlighted the symptoms that she was complaining of 

that did warrant medication changes, but not all of 

them.  

Q. Wasn't that a judgment call?

A. I guess.  I don't know what that means.  

Q. You don't know what "judgment" means or -- 

A. I mean, you're saying it was my judgment that 

there should have been more in the body of the chief 

complaint?  

Q. No.  What I'm saying is that you're 

second-guessing a fellow physician in terms of 

sufficiency of explanation.  That's what it is.  It's a 

difference in judgment?

A. Yes.

Q. Is that a yes?

A. I can agree with that, but I think where I get 

hung up is if I were to take over her care, I'd have a 

lot of unanswered questions as to why he was doing some 
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of these things.  

Q. And some of these things, you're talking about 

increasing dosage, reducing them?

A. Or just adding on specific medications for 

what symptomatology, I guess.  The big one for me would 

be Adderall, without any mention of how or when the ADHD 

was diagnosed.  

Q. Can you look at your notes and see if you can 

specify when the Adderall was first added, so we can go 

and review and see whether there were reasons for it?

A. I will take a look.  I know she was on Zotero 

(ph.) before, so that makes me believe there was some 

suspicion for ADHD rather than using Adderall as an 

adjunct to help with depression.  

January 2018, maybe.

MS. BRADLEY:  January 16, 2018, is what I'm seeing 

if that's helpful.

MR. AGWARA:  What's the page number?  

MS. BRADLEY:  0074.  Has it at the top of the 

page, and that's the first time I see it in treatment 

medications in Exhibit 11.  

BY MR. AGWARA:  

Q. Dr. Chen, are you saying in the chief 

complaint section you didn't see any justification for 

the Adderall?
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A. Yeah.  Or yes.  There is trouble 

concentrating, but in this context, he's referring to 

anxiety symptoms.  

Q. So trouble concentrating, feeling tense, and 

jumpy.  Feelings of -- 

A. Those are anxiety symptoms, which is supported 

by her diagnosis of generalized anxiety disorder.  

Q. When was the first time you saw depression as 

a chief complaint or as a diagnosis?

A. I guess bipolar disorder has that depressive 

component, and in those patients, they suffer through 

those depressive episodes far more than those hypomanic 

or manic episodes, so just having bipolar disorder, I 

don't think she has depression.  

Q. What you're saying is you would not have 

chosen Adderall to treat the depression?

A. Yes.  I would not have.  

Q. And why is that? 

A. Because, of course, bipolar is different than 

major depression, and with her history of having, I 

guess, there was an indication there was psychotic 

symptoms before, the Adderall could exacerbate that, and 

also could exacerbate her anxiety symptoms.

Q. Was that the case in this patient?

A. I don't recall which note it was, but I do 
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think there was something that said that she had 

acknowledged these medications worsening her mood or 

psychosis.  

Q. Are you sure that Adderall was one of those 

that she stopped using as a result of exacerbating her 

conditions?

A. Let me review.  I think it's June 6th.  No.  

It's -- 

MS. BRADLEY:  June 6, 2018.  0104.  

MR. AGWARA:  Okay.  

Q. I'm trying to find where the patient stated 

that she stopped Adderall because it made her condition 

worse?

A. I remember something, but I guess just putting 

this note in context, it seems like she must have 

decreased the dosages because it was causing some sort 

of untoward side effect.

Q. Did you read that somewhere, or is that a 

guess on your part?

A. (No audible response).

Q. Ma'am, did you hear my question?

A. I'm sorry.  I did not.  

Q. What you stated, was that a guess, or did you 

see that in the records somewhere?

A. I believe I saw something in the record.  I 
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just can't recall where it was.  But this note, I guess 

there wasn't an explanation of why she did those things, 

so one could obviously imagine she decreased the dosage 

because she thought that many of them were worsening her 

symptoms.

Q. And she started it after three days, correct?

MS. BRADLEY:  What did you say?  

BY MR. AGWARA:  

Q. She started taking the Adderall again after 

three days?

A. Correct.  

Q. And you're still guessing from that that the 

Adderall was making her condition worse?

A. I guess I don't know because there's no 

reasoning outlined in the note.  

Q. Dr. Chen, was today the first time of 

reviewing some of his notes?

A. No.  Re-reviewing, yes.  It's been a while 

that I've seen these.  

Q. Yes, but I'm assuming you took notes the first 

time you reviewed these records?

A. Yes.  I took extensive notes.

Q. So it didn't jump out at you if the patient 

had complaints that Adderall was making her worse; I'm 

sure you would have noted the visit, the date, the page?
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A. I just noted from this visit that there was a 

change that she decreased the Adderall and the Valium 

herself.  

Q. All right.  Let's move on.  That's fine. 

Now, Exhibit 14, can you point me to 

exactly -- can I continue now?  

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Go ahead.  

BY MR. AGWARA:  

Q. Doctor, can you point me to exactly where and 

what exactly you relied on from that exhibit?

A. I had gone through each of the listed sites 

and used information from all of them.  

Q. Can you give me an example of one information 

that you used from that exhibit?

A. So No. 10.  I don't think it had been printed 

out, but that is the guidelines for the Prescription 

Monitoring Program, and how it should be used.  I don't 

think it's printed out.  

Q. Okay.  So what we have printed out, can you 

point to a particular section that you used or relied 

on?

A. I wouldn't say I relied on any of these.  I 

would say I formulated my peer-review based on my 

practices and colleagues around me, and then I tried to 

find supplemental evidence to show what we're doing is 
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supported.  

Q. Okay.  Thank you. 

Now, did you review the formal complaint that 

was filed in this case?  

A. Yes.  

Q. Would you agree -- 

A. What was the question?  I'm sorry.

Q. I'm waiting for you to finish the paper 

shuffling because it's preventing us from hearing.  

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  It's difficult because 

in order to have the microphone close enough to hear 

her, we realize it's noisy.  We appreciate you working 

with us on that.  But she has the complaint in front of 

her now.  

MR. AGWARA:  Okay.  

Q. Dr. Chen, would you agree with me that the 

allegations in the complaint that are based on records 

prior to 2017, they would not be applicable since you 

didn't testify regarding those?

A. Yes.  

MR. AGWARA:  Thank you.  I'll pass the witness, or 

I have no further questions.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Thank you.  Redirect?  

MS. BRADLEY:  I don't have anything.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  All right.  Do you have 
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any other witnesses, Ms. Bradley?  

MS. BRADLEY:  No.  

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  So we are 10 minutes 

before we lose our reporter.  Mr. Agwara, Ms. Bradley, 

on behalf of the IC, has rested her case. 

What is your intention as far as putting on 

any type of a defense case?  

MR. AGWARA:  None.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  So you're not going to 

put on any evidence?  

MR. AGWARA:  We don't see any need to.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  All right.  So Madam 

Reporter, do you need to literally be out the door at 

1:00 o'clock?  

(Discussion was held off the record.)

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  We'll first hear from 

Ms. Bradley.  

MS. BRADLEY:  So today we heard testimony from two 

witnesses.  Mr. Diaz primarily spoke about the Board's 

investigation and the documents that were received by 

the Board, and those have been, I believe, all of them 

were admitted, with a couple that were provisionally 

admitted.  1 through 15. 

And the Investigative Committee alleged two 

violations in the Complaint.  The first one has to do 
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with malpractice.  We heard Dr. Chen testify about that.  

Particularly her concerns regarding about him failing to 

justify the use of certain medications, increases and 

decreases of medicines, and maybe a subsequent increase 

again.  She felt like the rationale wasn't explained 

well enough.  I think what she said there toward the end 

was that she said if she were to have taken over the 

care of the patient, she would have been confused and 

not sure of what was going on with the patient, you 

know, what the reasons were for some of these 

medications. 

And as we know, documentation is really 

important.  It's important to patient care because it 

helps subsequent providers know what's going on with the 

patient, history, other things like that. 

We also heard testimony that there were 

medications prescribed together that potentially would 

have bad impacts together or even exacerbated effects.  

So more than one medicine that would have a sedative 

effect, and that was done without really documenting 

that that could occur, and maybe the reason for doing 

it, even though that was a possibility. 

We also heard Dr. Chen testify that Dr. Okeke 

did not review the PMP Report, and I think Mr. Agwara 

was just talking about the time frame, and we absolutely 
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can see that when he first started seeing the patient, 

the PMP review was not required to be as it is now, 

which is at the initiation of a controlled substance and 

then every 90 days.  Dr. Chen didn't see that done, and 

that would violate the law in failing to do that. 

Also, failing to assess concurrent medication 

interaction.  We heard testimony about different 

medications, not all of them are psychotropic or 

psychiatric medicine.  Some of them were other 

medicines.  And again, just so I think a lack of 

documentation.  But the level that we believe the lack 

of documentation arises to malpractice is not just a 

failure to clearly document. 

Other concerns that Dr. Chen talked about was 

the history of Patient A.  We know that Patient A had a 

history of alcohol use, Methamphetamine use, and other 

substances, and that would make the patient at more of a 

risk for diversion or other potential things.  Even 

maybe misusing medications.  Which would mean also, the 

second part, or sorry, next part, would have to do with 

the drug screens.  She saw evidence of one drug screen 

being done.  That one she recalls having opiates 

included, and that wasn't done consistently, those drug 

screens, which would be more important for a patient 

that has substance abuse history. 
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And then failing to diligently monitor 

potential medication interactions and changing plans 

because the plans would change, maybe without sufficient 

documentation, and that could have affected the patient.  

We saw some up and down movement with the patient. 

Obviously, the patient was complex, and 

Dr. Chen testified to that, and the records show that.  

The patient had multiple things going on, and I know 

that it's difficult to treat a patient with multiple 

things going on, but at the same time, maybe better 

documentation and better use of the tools that are there 

to help make the prescribing less sloppy, and I think 

that's what Dr. Chen said early on.  She described it as 

sloppy prescribing. 

She also said the patient was in a vulnerable 

population with having multiple psychiatric issues going 

on, and kind of a complicated history.  I think it's 

more important to be very precise and accurate with 

regard to prescribing documentation.  In Count 2 of the 

complaint was failure to maintain timely, legible, 

accurate, and complete medical records regarding the 

diagnosis, treatment, and care of the patient. 

I feel like there's no question.  There was 

multiple, multiple instances where we found errors in 

the records; things were not updated.  We have the 
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history of seizures that it was noted one time in a 

follow-up visit after a hospital stay, but the records 

were never updated to reflect that.  There was confusing 

list of current medications with the treatment 

medications, and Dr. Chen responded to on cross that 

that can be fixed. 

Yes, maybe electronic medical records programs 

have maybe some risks, maybe something that might make 

them harder to use.  They're trying to help us, but I 

think as most technology things go, there's pitfalls 

there, but just because the program filled in something 

doesn't mean the practitioner is alleviated from his or 

her responsibility for making sure the record is 

accurate. 

The template or the other things the program 

inserts are definitely there to help, but the provider 

still needs to make sure it's accurate, and updated, and 

it's not wrong.  Certainly, an error or two may not 

deviate, but there were multiple, repeated.  Again, 

these were templates where things were cut and pasted. 

I think the neurological symptoms showing no 

history of seizures is a perfect example.  It wasn't 

updated, and every record after that symptom was known 

was incorrect. 

So again, just really a lack of ensuring that 
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the records are timely, legible, accurate, and complete.  

And it's important. 

The IC is not saying that Dr. Okeke caused 

what ended up happening to the patient, but I think what 

ended up happening to the patient highlights the fact 

that it's important that we're accurate and clear in our 

documentation, and really ensure that the records are 

clear because the patient did have incidents where she 

had to go to the emergency room or other places due to 

suicide attempts and other things that happened during 

the course of treatment.  So it highlights the fact that 

other people may look at these records, and they need 

them to be accurate so they can help treat that patient 

moving forward. 

We would submit that both of the counts as 

contained in the Complaint have been proven based on the 

exhibits that have been admitted, as well as Dr. Chen's 

testimony and that of Mr. Diaz, and so we would ask that 

the Hearing Officer find that those counts have been 

proven and I make the recommendation that those counts 

have been proven so the Board can take appropriate 

action at its next Board meeting. 

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Thank you very much, 

Ms. Bradley.  Give me one second here, Mr. Agwara, and 

I'll be right with you.
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MR. AGWARA:  Sure.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Okay.  Mr. Agwara, your 

argument, please.

MR. AGWARA:  Thank you, Mr. Woodman. 

I'm looking at the formal complaint, the 

factual allegations that form the basis of the IC's 

Count 1 and 2, I would like to note for the record that 

allegation or Factual Allegations No. 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6 

were prior to 2017.  And because Dr. Chen rendered no 

opinion as to those factual allegations, I would request 

that the Hearing Officer not consider those allegations 

in your decision. 

Now, looking at the allegations that Dr. Chen 

actually testified about, she did conclude her major 

concern was that there was not sufficient explanation 

for changes in dosages and prescriptions.  She did not 

say there were not any explanations.  She just said they 

were not sufficient.  I asked her if this would amount 

to a difference in judgment; she agreed. 

I asked her if another physician were to look 

at her own records, would she agree that they would find 

things that they would do differently.  She actually 

answered yes. 

I asked her if she thought Dr. Okeke's care 

had something to do with the unfortunate suicide of this 
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patient.  She said no. 

Now, Ms. Bradley made the statement regarding 

what she understood to be Dr. Chen's concern also, which 

is that if another provider were to take over the care 

of this patient, that that provider would be confused 

and wouldn't know where to start. 

Well, let me remind Ms. Bradley that two other 

providers did take over the care of this patient from 

the last time that Dr. Okeke saw her.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Hold on for one second.  

There's a phone ringing in here that we're taking care 

of.  I apologize for the interruption, Mr. Agwara.  I 

don't want to miss anything else you're saying here.

MR. AGWARA:  That's okay.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Go ahead, Mr. Agwara.  I 

think we'll be okay.  

MR. AGWARA:  So what I was saying, that there were 

two providers that saw this patient after Dr. Okeke 

stopped seeing her, and they didn't seem to be confused.  

And I don't know to what extent a change what Dr. Okeke 

had been doing since 2013. 

I will give you this much, that with respect 

to PMP, my client understands and acknowledges that he 

probably did not check as often as he should have.  He 

has made a lot of changes in his practice, and he has 
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now made that a frequent practice to check PMPs. 

As I pointed out in the beginning, in my 

opening statement, he has taken quite a few CEUs in 

terms of recordkeeping and sufficiency of records.  And 

to the extent that some of the records do not have 

adequate notes in regards to the reasons to changing 

dosages, those have all -- well, I shouldn't say they 

have been changed because you can't change them in the 

past, but going forward, he has adopted new changes, and 

he's now doing a lot more to explain reasons why he 

would change the dosage or the prescriptions. 

So what I would do, I would urge the Hearing 

Officer to look at the transcript, and pay close 

attention to Dr. Chen's testimony instead of what the 

lawyers are saying.  What we have here, I mean, two 

physicians, they're different.  There are one or two 

areas where my client, like I said, has acknowledged 

that he could do better, and he's doing better in those 

areas. 

Does that rise to a level of malpractice?  No.  

Even Dr. Chen stated most of our colleagues do that.  So 

I hope we're not selectively trying to discipline 

Dr. Okeke if a lot of doctors are doing what he did. 

So I don't really see that anything that was 

covered today rises to a level of malpractice. 
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Now, with respect to maintaining proper 

medical records, perhaps Dr. Chen was expecting to see a 

separate section that had justifications for changing 

prescriptions or reducing or increasing the dosage.  

However, if you look at the chief complaints, at least 

in my opinion, they seem to have sufficient information 

to justify the treatment courses that Dr. Okeke followed 

and recommended. 

And also, in the few areas where it may not 

have been sufficient, it did not mean that he did not 

have that conversation with the patient. 

So with that, I would submit.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Thank you very much, 

Mr. Agwara.

MR. AGWARA:  Thank you.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  Were you finished?  

MR. AGWARA:  Yes.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  All right.  In the 

interests of getting our Court Reporter released so she 

can get on to her next engagement, I'll just let 

everyone know as soon as I have transcripts, I will set 

aside a day to go through everything and finish up.  

Compare my notes with the transcript, write up my 

synopsis, and when that goes to the Board office, 

everyone will get immediately a copy of that, and it 
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will be scheduled for our Board hearing.

MR. AGWARA:  I believe there may have been a 

couple of exhibits that you wanted to rule on after 

hearing the evidence.  I think 13 is one of them.  I 

don't think Dr. Chen testified to anything about that.

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  I thought Exhibit 13 -- 

MS. BRADLEY:  I thought it was provisionally 

admitted.

MR. AGWARA:  No.  12 and 13. 

HEARING OFFICER WOODMAN:  No.  12 and 13 were 

originally withheld.  I provisionally admitted 12.  

Everything that is provisionally admitted is going to be 

admitted.  I never did admit 13, so it's probably too 

late to do it now, and from everything that I heard from 

Dr. Chen, I'm not sure I really need that as part of my 

deliberation.  All right. 

Mr. Agwara, Dr. Okeke, thank you for your time 

today.  Ms. Reporter, thank you very much.  And of 

course, Dr. Chen, very much appreciated.  And my 

appreciation to both counsel for doing a good job, 

presenting this well.  Sorry about the technological 

issues.  Appreciate you putting up with that, 

Ms. Reporter.  We'll cut you loose now and go off the 

record.  

(Whereupon, at 1:09 p.m. the proceedings concluded.)
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CERTIFICATE
OF

CERTIFIED COURT REPORTER

The undersigned Certified Court Reporter of 

the State of Nevada does hereby certify:

          That the foregoing proceeding was taken before 

me at the time and place therein set forth, at which 

time, the witnesses were duly sworn by me to testify to 

the truth;

          That the testimony of the witnesses and all 

objections made at the time of the examination were 

recorded stenographically by me and was thereafter 

transcribed; said transcript being a complete, true, and 

accurate transcription of my shorthand notes thereof.

I further certify that I am not a relative, 

employee, or independent contractor of counsel, or of 

any of the parties involved in the proceeding; nor a 

person financially interested in the proceeding; nor do 

I have any other relationship that may reasonably cause 

my impartiality to be questioned.

          IN WITNESS HEREOF, I have set my hand in my 

office in the County of Clark, State of Nevada, this 

28th day of September, 2022.  
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Matthew Okeke M.D.
2021S Jones Blvd Las Vegas NV, 89146

Phone: 702-202-0099Fax: 702-778-7632

Matthew Okeke M.D.

Board Certified Psychiatrist

Sincerely,

Thank you for your understanding.

1-14-19

Re: BME Case 

Patient: 

Responses to allegations.

1)I did not over prescribe any controlled substance to this patient. Patient is on

Diazepam 5mg twice a day and Belsomra 20 mg at night. She later saw another

practitioner who reduced the dose of Diazepam to 5mg daily on 7-29-19. She was also

given Amphetamine 5mg daily. At no time was this patient given a high dose of any

controlled substance in my office.

2)Patient has never told me she was suicidal when I last saw her in April 2019.

3)I never saw any reason to admit the patient to the hospital when I last saw her in April

2019.

4)Patient saw Deborah Perkins a NP in my office and she did not mention that she was

suicidal.

5)The PMP did not show that this patient was on any high dose controlled substances.

She was not getting medication from any other practice. She saw other practitioners in

my office.

JAN 2 f 2020

6p
Grand Desert Psychiatric Services

A Life Changing Experience

NSBME 0014
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Dissemination is restricted.
Secondary dissemination of this document is prohibited.

SUMMARY AND INTERPRETATION

This 39-year-old female,  died of multiple
drug intoxication (bupropion, gabapentin, diphenhydramine).
Toxicology results on the decedent's blood showed lethal levels
of bupropion (11,000 ng/mL). The normal therapeutic dose for
this drug ranges from 50-100 ng/mL. Levels greater than 4000
ng/mL are within a lethal range. Toxic effects include cardiac
dysrhythmias (abnormal cardiac rhythms). Additionally, results
showed toxic levels of gabapentin (160 mcg/mL). The normal dose
of this drug ranges from 2-15 mcg/mL. Toxic levels of this drug
result in profound sedation. Diphenhydramine was also detected
within a toxic level (970 ng/mL) . The normal dose of this drug
ranges from 4-250 ng/mL. Toxic effects of this drug also
include sedation. Additionally, diazepam and sertraline were
also (detected at therapeutic levels. The presence of these
drugs would have additive sedative effects.

I.

II.
III.

IV.
V.

AUTOPSY REPORT

PATHOLOGICAL EXAMINATION ON THE BODY OF

FINAL ANATOMIC DIAGNOSES

Multiple drug intoxication (bupropion, gabapentin,
diphenhydramine).
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.
Cholelithiasis.
Uterine leiomyoma.
Right parietal scalp contusion with multiple extremity
contusions.

August 23, 2019

AUTOPSY REPORT
Case Number: 19-04240

Clark County Coroner
1704 Pinto Lane

Las Vegas, NV 89106
(702)455-3210

12/3O/2O18 14:14#700 P.004/020From.Clark County Office of Coroner   7O2 455 O416
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Secondary dissemination of this document is prohibited.

CIRCUMSTANCES OF DEATH: As per investigative report, the
decedent's mother became concerned when she did not reach her
daughter and drove to her residence on August 22, 2019. When
she arrived, she used her key to make entrance into the locked
and secured residence where she discovered the decedent
unresponsive on her bedroom floor. She called emergency
personnel, and the paramedics arrived to find her beyond
resuscitation.

As per the mother, the decedent had a history of chronic
obstructive pulmonary disease, and multiple mental illnesses,
including bipolar disorder, anxiety and depression. She has
suffered from addiction since the age of 15 (chronic alcohol,
raethamphetamine, and prescription drug abuse). The decedent has
had multiple prescription drug overdoses in the past, the last
one being approximately six months ago. Her mother confirmed
that the past overdoses were suicide attempts. The decedent
frequently verbalizes suicidal ideation. The decedent's
prescription medications were inventoried and too many remained
indicating noncompliance.

SUICIDE.MANNER OF DEATH:

drug   intoxication   {bupropion,CAUSE OF DEATH:     Multiple
gabapentin, diphenhydramine).

Other significant findings at autopsy include multiple intact
capsules of bupropion within the stomach. Additionally, the
lungs showed marked airway expansion consistent with chronic
obstructive pulmonary disease. The contusion on the right
parietal scalp is not associated with underlying injuries to the
skull or brain. With the information available to me at this
time, the manner of death, in my opinion, is Suicide.

AUTOPSY REPORT
Case Number: 19-04240

#7O9 P.005/O2O12/30/2019

go
Clark County Coroner

1704 Pinto Lane
Las Vegas, NV 89106

(702)455-3210

From:ClarK County Office of Coroner   7O2 45 5 O416
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lQJerry^ J.' Hodge, 13.0.

JH/kra/amu

DATE:

It appears that the decedent was last known alive on August 19,
2019 at approximately 1900 hours when she spoke with her mother
via text. The decedent left behind multiple writings indicating
suicidal ideations and intention.

Medical records from previous hospital admissions are received
and reviewed. The decedent was admitted to Monte Vista Hospital
September 2014 for complications of bipolar disorder. There had
been five previous admissions to this institution for the same
diagnosis. The decedent was admitted to Sunrise Hospital on
August 19, 2019 for overdosage of prescription medications in a
suicidal attempt.

AUTOPSY REPORT
Case Number: 19-04240

0 0
Clark County Coroner

1704 Pinto Lane
Las Vegas, NV 89106

(702) 455-3210

12/3O/2O19 1-t;1-4#7O9 P.006/020From.Clark County Offios of C^^ronor   7O2 455 O41O
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